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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

| am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2022.
Financial Results

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2022 was
HK$38,379,000 (2021: HK$38,166,000), an increase of HK$213,000
or 0.56% compared to the year before. The loss for the year amounted
to HK$43,701,000 (2021: loss for the year of HK$1,563,052,000),
representing a decrease of HK$1,519,351,000 from 2021. The primarily
items for the decrease in loss for the year ended 31st December, 2022 are
as follows:

1. an impairment losses on loan and interest receivables of
HK$22,691,000 in current year as compared with an impairment
losses of HK$74,370,000 in last year. These impairment losses in
both years are mainly caused by the default of a senior note issued
by an independent listed group in Hong Kong, of which the Group
has subscribed for investment purpose in 2018; and

2. the absence of a loss on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately

HK$1,467,958,000 which was completed in October 2021.

Loss per share amounted to HK3.52 cents (2021: loss per share of
HK125.98 cents), while the net asset value per share was HK$1.25 as at
31st December, 2022 (2021: HK$1.29).

Dividend
No Dividend
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) does not recommend the

payment of a dividend for the year ended 31st December, 2022 (2021
interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend): Nil).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (2023
AGM")

The 2023 AGM is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 23rd May, 2023.
For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 18th
May, 2023 to Tuesday, 23rd May, 2023 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order for
a shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited of 17th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 17th May, 2023.

Management Discussion and Analysis
Business Review

The Group’s core businesses comprise property investment, property
leasing and estate management in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Group's commercial
properties situated at Harbour Crystal Centre recorded an average
occupancy level of approximately 87%, but the performance of rental
income was not so good as expected.

During the fifth wave of COVID-19 in Hong Kong starting in early 2022,
retail business in Harbour Crystal Centre was seriously affected due to the
mandatory closure or restrictions of designated retail premises adopted
by the Government. As a result, the Group has granted rent concession
to some tenants depending on the trades during the period resulting a
decrease in rental income from Harbour Crystal Centre. Following the
relaxation of social distancing measures in late 2022, the said concession
granted was minimal and the rental income was getting increased.

The Group's office spaces in Billion Centre and some strata residential
apartments recorded 90% and 89% occupancy rate respectively for the
year ended 2022.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Financial Review
Group Assets and Charges

The total assets of the Group have decreased from HK$1,791,326,000
last year to HK$1,741,114,000 in this year. The net assets of the Group
have decreased from HK$1,605,421,000 to HK$1,554,105,000. At 31st
December, 2022, no investment properties of the Group in Hong Kong
(2021: HK$ Nil) were pledged as security for banking facilities. The Group
has no bank loan, but will undergo a discussion with the bank for the
renewal of banking facilities and the bank has agreed to provide banking
facilities if necessary.

Group Financial Position, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The total liabilities of the Group have increased from HK$185,905,000
as at 31st December, 2021 to HK$187,009,000 as at 31st December,
2022. The Group had cash and bank balances of HK$147,668,000 as
at 31st December, 2022 (2021: HK$119,853,000) which were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The ratio of total liabilities to total
assets was approximately 10.74% (2021: 10.38%). As at 31st December,
2022, the Group had no bank loans (2021: Nil) and the total equity was
HK$1,554,105,000 (202 1: HK$1,605,421,000).

As at 31st December, 2022, the current assets of the Group, amounting to
HK$288,057,000 (2021: HK$269,058,000), exceeded its current liabilities
by HK$262,088,000 (2021: HK$246,861,000).

For the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Group had no material
exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and no related hedges and there
were no contingent liabilities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Events after the Reporting Period

Details regarding events after the reporting period are set out in note 34 to
the consolidated financial information.

Financial/Operational Key Performance Indicators
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)

For the year of 2022, the Group set the following operational KPlIs to
maintain high competitiveness:

(1) For the investment properties managed by the Group, our aim is to
maintain the same as last year in the total rental income.

Having reviewed the annual performance, these KPIs had been achieved.
The Group will keep updating its operational KPIs and sale/leasing strategy
to adapt the market changes.

Future Likely Development

Objectives for 2023 are as follows:

(1) We will continue to improve our investment portfolio through
acquisition of quality properties at attractive valuations and disposals
of under-performing properties in order to balance the demands of

short-term returns and long-term capital appreciation.

(2) We will review our management system and cost structure so as to
improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible.

(3) We will consider gearing up our projects in a responsible manner in
order to increase our return on equity.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

COVID-19 Response

The Group endeavours to provide a safe and pleasant working environment
for the employees. In light of the outbreak of the COVID-19, the Group has
carried out a number of preventive measures to safeguard the health and

safety of the employees.

The Group has been closely monitoring the trend of COVID-19 and is well
prepared for any possible outbreak with the following policies:

—  Provide one-day vaccination leave for each dose of vaccination

—  Maintain inventory of face masks, RAT kits, hand sanitiser and hygiene
supplies and focus on cleaning and sanitation

—  Meetings were held off-site or by conference calls or video
conference as far as possible

- Cancellation of all non-essential travels

—  Flexible working plans for employees, including flexi-hours and work
from home arrangement during the critical period

- Restrictions on office access, temperature screening and require
masks on during work

—  Employees are required to do RAT twice a week and when necessary
—  Self-isolation following travel, employees having symptoms, or

interaction with a confirmed case of COVID-19 are required to
undergo PCR test
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Business Outlook

With all COVID-19-related restrictions cancelled in Hong Kong, we expect
a rapid recovery in customer traffic in the Group’s retail space in Harbour
Crystal Centre (portion). The re-opening of borders with mainland China
will also be a significant boost for business activity in Harbour Crystal Centre
because of the property's proximity to the terminus for cross-border trains.

We believe the Hong Kong retail sector has already bottomed and will
recover quickly. The Group will take advantage of this recovery for the retail
segment by focusing our property portfolio on commercial properties with
retail elements. As part of this focused strategy, we plan to diversify away
from our non-core assets in residential and office properties in Hong Kong
and mainland China.

A factor for negative risk to our business going forward is the impact of rising
interest rates, which has the potential effect of dampening business activity
as well as capital values. However, we believe the long-term prospects for
the Hong Kong economy — backed by the recovering mainland Chinese
economy — remain healthy, and that the economic rebound from border
openings and removal of COVID-19 restrictions will be substantial. We
will continue to search for attractive real estate opportunities to add to our
portfolio in line with our focus on the retail segment.

Appreciation

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and the
staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past year, to
the shareholders of the Company for their understanding and support, and
to the customers for their trust.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2023
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
as at 31st December, 2022

HEEER
(FHR)

Total gross Hfi FMEESL HimER
ik T R SR 1S & floor area Car parking Percentage Lease
Location Lot No. Use (sq. ft.) spaces owned expiry
rEME
Investment properties
HE
Hong Kong
7m0 (R D) NENMER EE 138,663 - 80 2053*

NBEERDEREBIERHEBEI1005 106005 8,881 - 40 2053*
Harbour Crystal Centre (portion) KL 10600  Commercial 30 100 2053¢#
100 Granville Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon
EahL(E) MNEAE B% 13,851 2 100 2047*
NEEBRE R 559255
Billion Centre (portion) N.KILL 5925 Commercial

No. 1 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon

* ZEYEAP PR ASFE -

#

These properties are held on medium lease.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence. The board of directors of
the Company (“Board”) believes that good corporate governance is essential
to the success of the Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’
value.

Corporate Governance Code

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code") contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), the Board has reviewed
the corporate governance practices of the Company with the adoption of
the various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report. The
Company has applied the principles of, and complied with, the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 31st December,
2022, except for certain deviations as specified with considered reasons
for such deviations as explained below. The Board will review the current
practices at least annually, and make appropriate changes if considered
necessary.

The Board

The Board currently comprises seven directors (“Directors”) in total, with
four Executive Directors and three Independent Non-Executive Directors
("INEDs"). The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date
of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:

Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman)
Lee Shu Yin (Chief Executive)
Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

Li Chak Hung
Choi Kin Man
Lisa Yang Lai Sum

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in the Directors’
Report on pages 40 to 42. There are no family or other material
relationships among members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Board Process

During the year, the INEDs provided the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Group”) with a wide range of expertise and experience.
Their active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group's strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the interests of
all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company has
had three INEDs representing not less than one-third of the Board. At
least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule 3.10
of the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each INED an annual
confirmation of his/her independence and considers that all the INEDs are
independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review and
approve the Group's annual and interim results and other ad hoc matters
which need to be dealt with. During the year, four Board meetings were
held and the individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings
of the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and general
meeting during the year ended 3 1st December, 2022 are set out below:

HE BITERCRY
Number of meetings attended/held
FMZERE ENERE BRXE
EZ®  Remuneration Audit General
EFfE Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Meeting
BiTER: Executive Directors:
ERE(FE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman) 4/4 1/1
RIS (7TEAER) Lee Shu Yin (Chief Executive) 4/4 1/1
Bt Edwin Lo King Yau 4/4 1/1
T4 Tao Tsan Sang 4/4 1/1
BIUFUTES: INEDs:
ZEE Li Chak Hung 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
ERR Choi Kin Man 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
BER Lisa Yang Lai Sum 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Board Process (continued)

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters covering
mainly the Group's overall strategy, annual operating budget, annual and
interim results, approval of Directors’ appointment or re-appointment
(based on the recommendations made by the Nomination Committee),
material contracts and transactions, corporate governance as well as other
significant policy and financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-
to-day responsibility to the executive management under the instruction/
supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific written terms
of reference. The respective functions of the Board and management of the
Company have been formalised and set out in writing and will be reviewed
and updated by the Board from time to time to ensure that they are
consistent with the existing rules and regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to facilitate
maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice of a Board
meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given an opportunity to
include matters for discussion in the agenda. The company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman of the Board in
preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The agenda and the accompanying Board
papers are normally sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended
date of a regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other
Board meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder or
a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be
dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The articles
of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) also stipulate
that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall abstain
from voting on any Board resolution and not be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving any contract or arrangement in which such Director
or any of his/her close associates has a material interest.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Board Process (continued)

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company's senior management. Directors will
be continuously updated on the major developments of the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
upkeeping of good corporate governance practices. In addition, as part of
the mechanism to encourage independent views and input from Directors,
a written procedure has been established since August 2017 and reviewed
annually to enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek
external independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a
reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’

RABERBE N 2 XHFERBRIN - EELHE 2 attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by the
EBBENT ¢ management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities
including the following:
BHGREXRRED
Participation in Continuous
Professional Development Activities
HEREEREAMZ
W e R
Attending trainings/
FREREH briefings/seminars/
Reading  conference relevant to
EEpR Name of Directors Regulatory Updates Directors’ duties
BiEs: Executive Directors:
ERE(FE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman) v/ v
FRIB (7TBAER) Lee Shu Yin (Chief Executive) v v/
B2 Edwin Lo King Yau v/ v
HEE Tao Tsan Sang v/ v/
BIUERITES : INEDs:
=3 Li Chak Hung v v
BERR Choi Kin Man v/ v
BB Lisa Yang Lai Sum v v
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Diversity

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in August 2017
which sets out the objectives and principles regarding board diversity for
the purpose of achieving the Company's strategic objectives of balanced
diversity at the Board as far as practicable. Board appointments will be
based on merit and candidates will be considered against measurable
objectives, taking into account the Company's business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, knowledge, professional experience and skills. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and the contribution that the selected
candidates may bring to the Board.

The proportion of female Board representation is a measurable objective of
the Company in assessing the implementation of the diversity policy. The
Board currently has one female Directors out of seven Directors, achieving
the gender diversity of the Board at 14.3%. The Board targets to maintain
at least the current level of female representation, with the ultimate goal
of increasing the proportion of female members over time as and when
suitable candidates are identified.

The seven Directors are from diverse and complementary backgrounds,
including property development/management, corporate finance,
investment and management, legal, accounting and finance management
and media and public relations. The valuable experience and expertise they
bring to our business are critical for the long-term growth of the Group.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and is
satisfied that the Board Diversity Policy has been properly implemented and
is effective.




Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2022

L)

BENRFERZ Tl - EREMERSRER
ABME@ME TR RA THEUNZ EEE - 8
EIT-FF+A=+—H BEL(BESHKE
EE)EEIR620BM: 380 EERILLG - E&
MRIZ T A E2ER BEAEEZETA
REE—FER  BL2HERTHIREABER
SEERARN (B RARAR@W — T ==
FRE g RERRSEIA -

TRETBERZ AB

EEERTZTANEXC2IRTE » TERITH
BH(TRER ) AERERBEMRS - LT EHR
—ARERE EFFETFFRELETEAR
FEERY BROMEEABRFEEDKES
GRS RERES AW (DVTEEFREE
WESEFE SR LimAEZBR - kGG
ERRWEIER - BREBWZER < 1TRAR
—BEARRITRARFHEREEE  RAR
REBZBEFEBER - WEBL2BEC/BH
B BAEEEAHE IR -_F—tFN\AK
FERIEREBR_Z—NF—AEH -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Diversity (continued)

In striving to maintain gender diversity, similar considerations are used
when recruiting and selecting senior management and general staff. As
of 31st December, 2022, a 62% male : 38% female gender ratio, being
a measurable objective for gender diversity, has been achieved in the
workforce (including senior management). Further information about the
composition of the Group’s workforce can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2022 separately released on the websites
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the
Company.

Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive (“CE") should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, being the Chairman of the
Board, is primarily responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring that
(i) all significant policy issues are discussed by the Board in a timely and
constructive manner; (i) all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings; and (iii) the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear
information. The functions of the CE are performed by Mr. Lee Shu Yin,
the Chief Executive of the Company, who is responsible for the day-to-
day management of the Group's business. Their responsibilities are clearly
segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by the Board in
August 2017, and subsequently updated in January 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the selection
and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package from
the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her appointment.
This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on the responsibilities and on-going obligations to be observed by a
director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this induction package
includes materials briefly describing the operations and business of the
Company, the latest published financial reports of the Company and the
documentation for the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Board. Directors will be continuously updated on any major developments
of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeeping of good corporate governance practices.

All INEDs of the Company were appointed for a specific term of two years
commencing from 1st January, 2021. All terms of appointments of INEDs
of the Company are subject to the relevant provisions of the Articles of
Association or any other applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate
or retire from their office but are eligible for re-election. The appointment of
all INEDs has been renewed from 1st January, 2023.

In considering the appointment or re-appointment of Directors, in addition
to the diversity criteria set out in the paragraphs headed “Diversity” under
“The Board” above, the Board, with the assistance and recommendation
from the Nomination Committee, will also take into account a number of
factors, including but not limited to the structure, size and composition of
the Board, the candidates’ qualifications and their ability to devote sufficient
time as and when required to discharge their responsibilities as a director
and to make positive contribution to the development of the Company’s
strategy, policies and performance.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting of
the Company (“AGM"), one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. Further, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company whilst those appointed
as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following AGM
and in both cases, those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election
at the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties and

has adopted the written terms of reference on its corporate governance
functions in August 2017.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance functions

include:

(i)  developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v) reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the
corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Board Committees

The Board has established various committees, including a Nomination
Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee and an
Executive Committee, each of which has its specific written terms of
reference. Copies of minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the
committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary, are circulated to
all Board members and the committees are required to report back to
the Board on their decisions and recommendations where appropriate.
The procedures and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in
the section headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for the
committee meetings so far as practicable.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since March 2012
and is chaired by an INED and comprises all INEDs. Currently, the
Nomination Committee consists of three members, including Mr. Li Chak
Hung (Chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Choi Kin Man and
Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The Nomination Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered
necessary. The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are
included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out the nomination
policy (“Nomination Policy”) in its terms of reference. The objectives of
the Nomination Policy are to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the Company's business, and that the Directors can devote sufficient
time and make contributions to the Company that are commensurate with
their role and board responsibilities. A balanced composition of executive
directors and INEDs shall be included in the Board so that there is a
strong independent element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgment.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without
undue disruption, a formal, considered and transparent procedure is in
place for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well
as plans in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including
periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be
an additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any
re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the
recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified
shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board (including
gender diversity) as well as the effective carrying out of the responsibilities
of the Board. By adopting such criteria, it facilitates the Company to develop
a pipeline of candidates to the Board to achieve gender diversity. Further
details of the selection criteria and the procedure are set out in the terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee which are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with matters by
way of circulation. In 2022, no Nomination Committee meeting was held
while the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by way of circulation.
In 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
performed the works as summarised below:

(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the proposed
resolutions for re-election of the retiring Directors at 2022 AGM and
2023 AGM;

(i)  reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and assessed the independence of each INED;

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the revised
Board Diversity Policy and terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee in compliance with the amendments to the CG Code
effective from 1st January, 2022; and

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the renewal of
appointment for the INEDs from 1st January, 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since September
2005 and currently consists of three members, including Mr. Choi Kin Man
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Li Chak Hung and Ms.
Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs. The Remuneration Committee is
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access
to independent professional advice according to the Company's policy if
considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in compliance
with the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, but with a deviation
from the code provision that the Remuneration Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Executive Directors only and not senior management (as opposed to
executive directors and senior management under the code provision). The
reasons for the above deviation are summarised as below:

(i)  the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not properly
in a position to evaluate the performance of senior management
and that this evaluation process is more effectively carried out by the
Executive Directors;

(i) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and
control senior management and thus must be able to control their
compensation; and

(i)  there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior management
more than industry standards and thus Shareholders will benefit by
reducing costs in the fixing of such compensation packages.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. One Remuneration Committee meeting was
held in 2022 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed "The Board” of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the Remuneration
Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2022. In
2022 and up to the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
performed the works as summarised below:

(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the revised
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee in compliance with the
amendments to the CG Code effective from 1st January, 2022;

(i) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive Directors
and INEDs for the year ended 31st December, 2021;

(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the bonus for
the year ended 31st December, 2021 and the increment in salary for
the year 2022 of the CE;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the Directors’
fee for the year 2022; and

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the
remuneration and the renewal of appointment of the INEDs.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director's fee. Further remuneration
payable to Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs) for their
additional responsibilities and services will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their employment contracts or service contracts
as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements whereas detailed changes in the emoluments of certain
Directors during the interim period and up to the date of the Interim Report
were also disclosed in the Interim Report of the Company dated 18th
August, 2022. The remuneration payable to the senior management of
the Company by band are set out in note 12 in the consolidated financial
statements. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are also set out
in the "Employee” section contained in the Directors’ Report on page 49.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since September 1998 and
currently consists of three INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity,
the Audit Committee is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
current members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Li Chak Hung (Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Choi Kin Man and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum.
The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and has access to independent professional advice according to the
Company's policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions
of the Audit Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are revised from time to
time to comply with the code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code, but with
deviations from the code provision of the audit committee’s responsibility
to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to
supply non-audit services;

(i) ensure the management has performed its duty to have effective risk
management and internal control systems; and

(i) ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the listed company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall recommend (as
opposed to implement under the code provision) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for the
following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to
develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;

(i)  the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation of such
policy and recommendations is through the Executive Directors and
management; and

(i) INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and follow
up the same on a day-to-day basis.

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee only possesses
the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to ensure under the code
provision) whether management has performed its duty to have effective
risk management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee is not
equipped to ensure that the same is in place as this would involve day-
to-day supervision and the employment of permanent experts. The Audit
Committee is not in a position either to ensure co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors but it can promote the same. Similarly,
the Audit Committee is not in a position to ensure that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced but it can check whether it is adequately
resourced.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance with
its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were held in 2022
and the attendance of each member is set out in the section headed “The
Board” of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also

dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2022. In 2022 and up

to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the works as

summarised below:

®

(ii)

(i)

(v)

V)

(Vi)

reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the
external auditor in respect of the interim results review for the six
months ended 30th June, 2022 (“2022 Interim Review") and the
final audit for the year ended 31st December, 2022 (“2022 Final
Audit”) of the Group;

reviewed the audit final reports and audit completion report from the
external auditor and the management's response in relation to the
final audit for the year ended 31st December, 2021, 2022 Interim
Review and 2022 Final Audit;

reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the financial
reports for the year ended 31st December, 2021, for the six months
ended 30th June, 2022 and for the year ended 31st December,
2022 together with the relevant management representation letters
and announcements;

reviewed the internal audit plan and the internal audit report prepared
by the Internal Audit Function of the Group (“IA Function”);

reviewed and recommended for the Board's approval the revised
Policy on Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Control
Procedures and terms of reference of the Audit Committee in
compliance with the amendments to the CG Code effective from 1st
January, 2022;

reviewed and recommended for the Board's annual review the
reports on the substantiation of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to ESG performance and
reporting, and their training programmes and budget;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

(vii) reviewed and recommended for the Board's annual review the
Whistle Blower Policy, Procedures for the Identification and Monitoring
of Connected Transactions, Related Party Transaction Policies and
Procedures, Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information and Policy
on Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Control Procedures;
and

(viii) reviewed and recommended for the Board's annual review the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since July 2017 and
currently consists of four Executive Directors, being Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng
Wei (Chairman of the Executive Committee), Lee Shu Yin, Edwin Lo King
Yau and Tao Tsan Sang. The Executive Committee is vested with all the
general powers of management and control of the activities of the Group as
are vested in the Board, save for those matters which are reserved for the
Board's decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of
the Executive Committee.

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss the
operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters by way of
circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible for undertaking
and supervising the day-to-day management and is empowered:

(i)  to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(i) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group as
determined by the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Company Secretary

Ms. Cynthia Chen Si Ying is the Company Secretary of the Company. All
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.
The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board governance
matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed
and for facilitating communications among Directors as well as with the
Shareholders and management.

Ms. Chen is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute and
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries). During the year, Ms. Chen
undertook over 15 hours of relevant professional training to update her
skills and knowledge.

Codes for Securities Transactions by Directors and Relevant
Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the
Company, that they have complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in the
securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries who are considered likely to be in possession of inside
information in relation to the Company or its securities.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with the
support from the Accounts Department, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31st December, 2022, the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and the requirements
of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (which also include Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance were complied with. The
Directors believe that they have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 51 to 56.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls. In 2022,
the Board, through the Audit Committee, had reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well as those
relating to ESG performance and reporting, and their training programmes
and budget.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely eliminate the risk
of system failure; and to assist in the achievement of the Group's agreed
objectives and goals. They have a key role in the management of risks
that are significant to the fulfilment of business objectives. In addition, they
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper accounting records
and assist in the compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Accountability and Audit (continued)
Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and manage
the risks of different businesses and activities. The annual assessment
is performed through the completion by the relevant business units and
department heads of their respective responsibility statements as co-
ordinated by the IA Function. The result and findings are reported to the
Chairman of the Executive Committee who puts forward the same to the
Audit Committee and the Board for review on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, which have been considered
effective and adequate.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of each of
the major types of risk which the Group is facing is included in note 30(b)
to the consolidated financial statements and under the “Principal Risks and
Uncertainties” section contained in Directors’ Report on pages 35 to 36.

Internal Audit

The Head of IA Function reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
Audit Committee. The IA Function generally carries out the analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems.

The internal audit plan and internal audit report were prepared by the IA
Function and issued to the Audit Committee and the Board for review.
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The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information
("Policy”) effective on 1st January, 2013, with respect to the procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Policy sets out guidelines and procedures to the Directors
and relevant officers of the Group to ensure inside information of the Group
is to be disseminated to the public on an equal basis and in timely manner.
Directors and relevant officers in possession of potential inside information
and/or inside information are required to take reasonable measures to
ensure that proper safeguards are in place to preserve strict confidentiality
of inside information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their
obligations to maintain the information confidential. The Policy shall
be updated and revised as and when necessary in light of changes in
circumstances and changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance and relevant statutory and regulatory requirements
from time to time.

External Auditor's Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group's external auditor is set
out as follows:

REREE St Z R Services rendered for the Group H;fofg
RIS Audit services 1,173,000
IRERTS (BIERMP B REEN) Non-audit services (including review of interim results

and results announcements) 339,000
#eEt Total 1,512,000



TRWEARAT — - —FFR

f||||

31

ERELWEWR)
fR2H

EERPEBRRRHIRIBBECEREN - A
AEBZERDREEBEZEEXNRERRRE
Z o BRPHRERSES LFR - AMMEK - Z
SFHNEXHBERRIHZARERBERTER
RN RIEE B o

ARBRRBFEASGNESFSHERERRBE L

HERE - TFREG2ERFAFASY [ ER
%ZEHE;@ BERERE® FMZEEERRER
ZBEgx &Eziﬁifﬁkfﬁﬁmxﬁi,\a

ZA— %x;(‘ﬂllﬁiiééjﬁ EHE - AIREE
BRENKRRNBIRBEFAE LEERRE - £
BYRUSRBELTRAURIZBIESEZES
ZEFE(EMEEBEEEZER  AEL—2BYE
EZEeNRB) NS HETARMAERER HHA
BRI E 2 FAEMR B A M BRERK
& PABIEIRA] -

RER —ZE-_FRERAFREGR=-_ZT_=
HFA+NBET - EFR_T__FREFEFAK
G HFLREEINAREEET | —FR -

BHEXRFH(PEEERTEF)HRBRRE

REBILRZER -

RBREBEFRAEME @ RRABEHN AR
§9i:+—E%L'ﬁ%WﬁE@k$ﬁa
?'%it%%%ﬁéﬁﬁmﬁdi+@5%

o IREBIR R A RNETRAZFHMAEF IR K
ﬁ%%hﬁkﬁm& N CES A e el
LAREIRE S A RARZ ERME - REUR R4
TR E AR RIARE 2 5 X FIE -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Shareholders Engagement

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to
Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels,
which include interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars.
Such published documents together with the latest corporate information
and news are also made available on the website of the Company.

The Company's AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate
directly with Shareholders. The Chairman actively participates at the AGM
to answer any questions from Shareholders. The chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
or in their absence, another member of the respective committees or
failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also available to
answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of any independent board
committee formed as necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no
such chairman is appointed, at least a member of the independent board
committee) will also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting of Shareholders to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’ approval.

During the year, the 2022 AGM was held on 19th May, 2022. The
attendance records of the Directors at the 2022 AGM are set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 21
days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 days in case of all
other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed procedures of
conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders at the commencement
of the meeting. The chairman of the meeting answers questions from
Shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll results are
published in the manner prescribed under the requirements of the Listing
Rules.
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Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings as at the date
of deposit of the requisition can request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") by sending a written request to the
registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”). Such requisition
must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the EGM
and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it. Besides,
Shareholders may make a proposal (“Proposal”) at a Shareholders’ meeting
by submitting it in written form to the Board at the Registered Office (the
address which can be found at the “Corporate Information” section of
this annual report) in accordance with the Companies Ordinance and the
Articles of Association where applicable. The Proposal shall be in the form
of a proposed resolution, which shall clearly and concisely set out the
Proposal for discussion and be relevant to the Company's business scope.

The Board updated a Shareholders’ Communication Policy in August
2017. A Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board at the Registered
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall state the
nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry. In addition,
Shareholders can contact Tricor Tengis Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, for any questions about their shareholdings.

During the year, the Board conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication and engagement in place as
detailed above and in the Shareholders Communication Policy, the Board
is satisfied that the Shareholders Communication Policy has been properly
implemented and is effective.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted the Dividend Policy effective on 1st January,
2019. The Company's Dividend Policy aims at providing reasonable and
sustainable returns to its Shareholders whilst maintaining a position of
financial stability which allows the Company to take advantage of any
investment and expansion opportunities that may arise from time to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual basis and/or
may declare interim dividends or special dividends. Proposal or declaration
of dividends by the Board is subject to consideration of the Company’s and
the Group's operating results, accumulated and future earnings, gearing,
liquidity position, capital commitment requirements and future expansion
plans as well as general economic conditions and external factors that may
have impact on the financial performance and position of the Company
and the Group. In addition, as the Company is a holding company, the
Board will also consider the dividends received from its subsidiaries and
associates as the ability to pay dividends by the Company is dependent on
the dividends received from those subsidiaries and associates.

The Board will regularly review the dividend policy and will amend and/or
modify the dividend policy if necessary.

Amendment of Articles of Association

For the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Company made certain
amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company, which has been
approved in the 2022 AGM and adopted as the new articles of association
of the Company. Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 21st
April, 2022 and the announcement of the poll results of the 2022 AGM
dated 19th May, 2022 for further details.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not made any changes to the
Articles of Association during the year under review. An up-to-date version
of the Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Corporate Governance Enhancement

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also about
promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. We will
continue to review and, where appropriate, improve our current practices
on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes and developments. Any
views and suggestions from our Shareholders to promote and improve our
transparency are also welcome.

On behalf of the Board

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2023
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents its annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year ended 31st December,
2022.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries as at 3 1st December, 2022
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities carried
out in Hong Kong. The breakdown by principal activities of the Group's
revenue and the contribution to profit before taxation for the year ended
31st December, 2022 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Business Review

Detailed review of the Group's business is set out in the Chairman’s
Statement (“CS") on page 5. Particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year are provided
in note 34 "Events after the Reporting Period” to the consolidated financial
statements. Future development of the Company’s business is set out in
the CS on page 7. An analysis of the Group's performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in the CS on page 7.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework. Risk
management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and updated
to react to changes in market conditions and the Group's business strategy.
The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) reviews risk-
related policies and scrutinises that management has performed its duty
to have effective risk management and internal control systems necessary
for monitoring and controlling major risks arising from the Group's business
activities, changing external risks and the regulatory environment, and
reports to the Board on the above.




36

Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2022

ES EI1E))
FTERBRAREH(K)
HERE

BREREFETIEAR  EERR KRS MR
o miBRARY REEBERMSRREEHMA
- HAAn ANERRR - INERBR MEAMER
Rfe%E - EERRIIEPHR S E T M- T
XA FRIAEMSIBIBRWER < RBIERRAS &
HEBARAEERGREAET S EEE U
BRAMBARENNER - WERBREECF
AN R A B S SRR M EE30(b) [ B 75 L i 32
B AR KB B

BEEmRE

LERBSRARBIERF - AR BIEZTEX
REFIMERHERZAIREER - AREEBZE
TiEEAEREEE RIS ERERE - 1R E 2R
By TEBRAEDERHIE K EEFTE - Bk
2l EER R o REBDECTIBEER M
LETEEOERTLET  HABXBEMLN
LERRED THIAER - BYEZERBIHA
SEABEAENT  LEHRNEETEIER
BELEGER -

TREM

REBEFE  AEENEBLRBENENNERS
MEMSZ T REEREZE - MEHER - BT
HEMEMHERN TR - BERBIETHE
BHERRAESIRAERE X5 - MBEAR R
EBEHBEEBHE -

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Business Review (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Financial Risk

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Market risk
concerns that the value of an investment will change due to movements
in market factors and which can be further divided into interest rate
risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. Credit risk is the risk of
losses arising from clients or counterparties failing to make payments as
contracted. Liquidity risk concerns that a given security or asset cannot be
traded readily in the market to prevent a loss or make the required profit.
Further discussion on financial risk management is outlined in note 30(b)
“Financial risk management objectives and policies” to the consolidated
financial statements.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by inadequate or
failed internal processes, people, systems or external events. Operational
risk is mitigated and controlled through establishing robust internal controls,
setting out clear lines of responsibility, proper segregation of duties and
effective internal reporting and contingency planning. It is our corporate
culture that the business and operating line management are fully aware of,
and responsible for, managing the operational risks of their business units
on a day-to-day basis. Independent monitoring and reviews are conducted
by the Internal Audit Function of the Group which reports regularly to the
Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee.

Uncertainties

The Group's business and profitability growth in the year under review are
affected by the uncertainty of the property market. The supply and demand
of the properties, government interventions over the property market price,
house price indexes and interest rates change in Hong Kong may induce a
material adjustment on the Group's business, financial position and resuilts.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Business Review (continued)
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it operates. Acting in an environmentally
responsible manner, the Group endeavours to comply with the laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection legislated by the local
government for managing the properties.

The Group is also committed to building an eco-friendly corporation. It is
the Group's aim to reduce the impact of its operations on the environment.
The environmental policies of the Group include minimising consumption
of paper and electricity, reducing waste and promoting the use of electronic
communication and storage.

For further information about the environmental policies and performance
of the Group during the year, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” ("ESG Reports) separately released on the website
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the
website of the Company in the “ESG Reports” section under “Investor
Relations”, the discussions of which form part of this report.

To access the online version of the ESG Report, please refer to the website
addresses set out in the “Corporate Information” on page 3 of this Annual
Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is committed to comply with laws and regulations that govern
our businesses. As the Company is incorporated in Hong Kong, we are
under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong. As a listed company, we abide by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong Law.

The relevant boards of directors and committees may make
recommendations to the Group in relation to relevant codes and practice
guides in pursuing business integrity and the results are reviewed regularly.
A variety of training on regulations and compliance matters are also
provided internally or through professional institutions.

Our rental businesses are governed by the Landlord and Tenant
(Consolidation) Ordinance, Chapter 7 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
Our property management businesses are governed by the Building
Management Ordinance, Chapter 344 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Business Review (continued)
Compliance with Laws and Regulations (continued)

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During
the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on page 57 and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31st December, 2022 (2021 interim dividend (in lieu of a final
dividend): Nil).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Properties

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 3 1st December, 2022 are
set out on page 10.

Distributable Reserves
Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31st December, 2022,

calculated under part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622), amounted to HK$1,840,000 (2021: HK$18,719,000).

Debentures

The Group has not issued any debentures during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Equity-Linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Borrowings

The Group does not have any borrowings as at 31st December, 2022
(2021: Nil).

Directors

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Lee Shu Yin

Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Li Chak Hung
Choi Kin Man
Lisa Yang Lai Sum

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), Messrs. Tao Tsan Sang, Li Chak Hung
and Choi Kin Man shall retire from office by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company (“AGM").

A list of names of all the directors who have served on the boards of the
Company's subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this report is
kept at the Company's registered office and available for inspection by the
Shareholders during normal office hours.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Executive Directors

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 71, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in November 2016 and was the Chief Executive of the
Company during the period from December 2016 to January 2018.
Mr. Lee was appointed the Chairman of the Company in January 2018.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Being an
architect, he worked for IBM Australia before becoming involved in property
development in Malaysia and Hong Kong more than thirty years ago. He
has extensive experience in the property field. Mr. Lee is the managing
director and an executive director of Tian An China Investments Company
Limited, the holding company of the Company.

Lee Shu Yin, aged 56, has been the Chief Executive and an Executive
Director of the Company since January 2018. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over twenty years of experience in
corporate finance, investment and management. Mr. Lee served as Chief
Investment Officer of Grand River Properties Ltd. and as an executive of
PGR Asian RE Fund GP, Ltd., which managed a property-related investment
account of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian An China Investments
Company Limited (“TACI"), the holding company of the Company. He
is an independent non-executive director of Altus Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock Code: 8149). Mr. Lee was a Non-Executive Director of TACI during
the period from March 2011 to June 2017 and an Executive Director of
the same company from June 2017 to January 2018. He served various
positions as a vice president and director in the Asian Equities division of JP
Morgan Securities Limited/Robert Fleming Securities and as an executive
director of Goldman Sachs International in Hong Kong. He holds a Master's
Degree in Finance from the London Business School, and Bachelor of Arts
and Bachelor of Science Degrees from Stanford University. Mr. Lee is a
Chartered Financial Analyst charterholder.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
(continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 62, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Lo holds a Master's Degree in Applied Finance from
Macquarie University, Australia and is a Chartered Secretary and a Chartered
Governance Professional. He had served various executive roles in several
companies in Hong Kong including as company secretary for public listed
companies. Mr. Lo is also an executive director of each of Allied Group
Limited, the ultimate holding company of the Company, and Tian An China
Investments Company Limited, the holding company of the Company.

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 58, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Tao holds a Master's Degree in Business Administration
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is an associate of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants. He has extensive experience in accounting,
financial management and China business field. Mr. Tao is an executive
director and the finance director of Tian An China Investments Company
Limited, the holding company of the Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Li Chak Hung, aged 58, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in March 2017. Mr. Li graduated from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong and holds a Bachelor's Degree of
Business Administration. Mr. Li is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong. He has 30 years' experience in accounting, auditing,
taxation and financial management. Mr. Li is currently an independent
non-executive director of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
102) and Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 948) and
was an independent non-executive director of Sandmartin International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 482) from September 2016 to August
2021, DreamEast Group Limited (Stock Code: 593) from October 2004 to
December 2019 and Alibaba Pictures Group Limited (Stock Code: 1060)
from September 2004 to June 2014, whereby all companies are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.




42

Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2022

SENSREEBABZAAER (&)

BWIFMITEEE)

BRE BFSt=m RZZ—+F=ZAKZ
ERADNBZBUIIERITES - BREEZENE
AAZTHEHBEL BN RBERFRAZ
WHETIHERETEM - BAEREERAH
TEB -+ F45% - B AShima & Co. Limited
HOABACIR o 225 4 B IE{T Capital Communications
CorpWESE  WRRLZEANMKBAER - 5%
EIRBEEREERER AR (RS - 948)
B EMITESE -

BERE HFf0Ltm R tF=ARZ
ERARRZBIUIFRNTES - REEXVEMNS
HAE  BIEARRKEES LM - JIEUSRM
REEZZMER - KRBT BNERE - XA
MLREMEEMZER - BRETRAREZ
REERARBEEEARAR - ARBZER
REARLPEREBRAF - AR PEHEEEE
BRARZEIIFMTES -

REEBAR

MBS RFEAL T BRARARAME R
R —FNAMEARR c REEFHEIEE
BETEURMEERBLTSEMN - WEFBAA
REAE (AEEBRRNERS) REFFARAE
BRAENEREER  BARAHKSHMAENE
ARGRTED > REMESHAMAGHNERE AR
BMNER S AGHEMEIZSFE - R T
B TFENEEMERBERIAIN - RIFFERE
MECEEETARBTA=TF&%R  kE=
FUALE BRI TAE ©

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
(continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Choi Kin Man, aged 63, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in March 2017. Mr. Choi graduated from Jinan
University holding a Bachelor's Degree in Journalism and from University
of South Australia with a Master's Degree in Business Administration. Mr.
Choi has 20 years of experience in the media and public relations industry,
and is currently the managing director of Shima & Co. Limited. Mr. Choi was
previously a director of Capital Communications Corp., and had participated
in a number of public relations and communications projects. Mr. Choi
is currently an independent non-executive director of Alpha Professional
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 948).

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 56, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in March 2017. She graduated from the
University of Sydney with a Bachelor's Degree in Law and Economics and
is also qualified as a solicitor in Australia and England. She is a practising
solicitor in Hong Kong and a consultant of ONC Lawyers. Ms. Yang is also
an independent non-executive director of each of Allied Group Limited,
the ultimate holding company of the Company, Tian An China Investments
Company Limited, the holding company of the Company, and China
Medical & HealthCare Group Limited.

Senior Management

Cynthia Chen Si Ying, aged 56, is the Company Secretary of the
Company. She joined the Company in April 2011. Ms. Chen holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration and a Master's Degree
in Corporate Governance. She is a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries), a fellow of The Chartered Governance Institute,
a fellow of the Institute of Public Accountants, a fellow of the Institute
of Financial Accountants and a member of the Institute of Certified
Management Accountants. She has twenty years' extensive experience in
the company secretarial practice and has more than thirty years’ experience
in the management of large and well-known enterprises, and she has
worked in Singapore for more than three years.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
an unexpired service contract with the Group which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Terms of Office for the Non-Executive Directors

All the Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs") of the Company
were appointed for a specific term of two years commencing from 1
January, 2021. All terms of appointments of INEDs of the Company are
subject to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office
but are eligible for re-election.

Directors’ Interests

As at 31st December, 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO"), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following Directors (not
being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the businesses listed
below which compete or are likely to compete with the businesses of the
Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out below:

1. Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang
are directors of TACI which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly
engaged in the businesses of money lending, property investment
and property management; and

2. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau is a director of Allied Group Limited which,
through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses
of money lending, property investment and property management.

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in other
companies by virtue of their respective common directorship, they will fuffil
their fiduciary duties in order to ensure that they will act in the best interests
of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) and the Company
as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of
such companies.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors
or an entity connected with the Directors had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its
fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any arrangements
that enabled the Directors or Chief Executives (including their spouses and
children under the age of 18) of the Company to have any interests in or
to be granted any right to subscribe in any shares, underlying shares, or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Management Contracts

Save for employment contracts and the agreements relating to the
sharing of administrative services and management services (“Services")
and the sharing of internal audit services and management information
system services (“IA & MIS Services"), no other contracts, relating to the
management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year.

The Company entered into an agreement with TACI on 2nd January,
2020 ("2020 Agreement”) in relation to the Services for a term of three
years from 1st January, 2020 to 31st December, 2022, and another
agreement on 23rd December, 2022 (“2023 Agreement”) to renew the
2020 Agreement for a term of three years from 1st January, 2023 to 31st
December, 2025.

Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, being the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company, and the managing director and an executive director of TAC, is
deemed to be interested in the 2020 Agreement and the 2023 Agreement.
Messrs. Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang, being the Executive
Directors of the Company and the executive directors of TACI, are deemed
to be interested in the 2020 Agreement and the 2023 Agreement.

The Company entered into an agreement with Allied Group Limited
("AGL") on 2nd January, 2020 (“2020 IA & MIS Agreement”) in relation
to the IA & MIS Services for a term of three years from 1 January, 2020 to
31 December, 2022, and another agreement on 23rd December, 2022
("2023 1A & MIS Agreement”) to renew the 2020 IA & MIS Agreement for
a term of three years from Tst January, 2023 to 3 1st December, 2025.

Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, being an Executive Director of the Company and an
executive director of AGL, is deemed to be interested in the 2020 1A & MIS
Agreement and the 2023 IA & MIS Agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate
directors and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions
against the Directors.

Substantial Shareholders' and Other Persons’ Interests

To the best of Directors’ knowledge, as at 31st December, 2022, the
following Shareholders had interests in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:

BRI RERERZEE
Number of shares and underlying shares interested
EBAER EERES
(LESBEAA (SZ3EEE HERTT
SRHH) ZHER) L3Vt
Personal Corporate BiHvast
Interests Interests Approximate %
(held as (interest of Hthig = Eanm of the total
BEREE beneficial controlled Other Total number of
Name of Shareholders owner)  corporation) Interests Interests issued shares
PN - 930,376,898 - 930,376,898 74.98%
TACI (HizE1)
(Note 1)
ekl - 930,376,898 - 930,376,898 74.98%
AGL (B1t3) (Hfit2)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
Lee and Lee Trust - 930,376,898 - 930,376,898 74.98%
(Hizt4) (Hiat2)
(Note 4) (Note 2)
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2. IR IE R TR A 2 [A—#930,376,898% A% 7 °

3. BASH(EREZEWBARMEAERZE
BATRRD B EKI51.74% 2 s - RIS A R
ZHTREA 2 B 2 #an o

4, FRERE C FREBL T RFRBEES Blee
and Lee Trust(2#{Z+E) Z155EA © Lee and Lee
TrustiZ HlE 4 £ 8 B 1T B E 1 74.99%( B
EERB S E 2 AARER) « BIRRIEHEA#E
B (BBRZ)FsE 2 ’ih 2z -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Substantial Shareholders' and Other Persons’ Interests
(continued)

Notes:

The interest was held by Autobest Holdings Limited (“Autobest”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Advance Growth Investments Limited (“Advance Growth"). As
Advance Growth is a wholly-owned subsidiary of TACI, TACI was therefore deemed
to have an interest in the shares in which Autobest was interested.

This represents the same interests of TACI in 930,376,898 shares.

AGL, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, indirectly owned approximately 51.74%
of the total number of issued shares of TACI and was therefore deemed to have an
interest in the shares in which TACI was interested.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of
Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee Trust controlled
approximately 74.99% of the total number of issued shares of AGL (inclusive
of Mr. Lee Seng Hui's personal interests) and was therefore deemed to have an
interest in the shares in which AGL was interested through TACI.

All interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2022, the Company was

not notified of any other persons having any interests or short positions in

the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Connected Transaction
Events after the Reporting Period

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company, TACI and AGL
dated 27th February, 2023:

(a) on 27th February, 2023, Dan Form (China) Limited (“Dan Form”,
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as vendor, and
Advance Growth Investments Limited (“Advance Growth”, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of TACI) as purchaser, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which, (i) Dan Form agreed to
sell and Advance Growth agreed to acquire the entire issued share
capital of Spring Victory Holdings Limited (“Spring Victory”, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Dan Form); and (ii) Dan Form agreed
to assign to Advance Growth the sale loan which Spring Victory
may hereafter become indebted to Dan Form, at a consideration of
HK$80,000,000 (“Disposal I"); and

(b) on 27th February, 2023, Simply Global Enterprises Limited (“Simply
Global", a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as vendor,
and AP Development Limited (“AP Development”, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of AGL) as purchaser, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which, (i) Simply Global agreed
to sell and AP Development agreed to acquire the entire issued
share capital of Hero Bless Investments Limited ("Hero Bless”, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Simply Global) and Wisdom Giant
Holdings Limited ("Wisdom Giant", a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of Simply Global); and (ii) Simply Global agreed to assign to AP
Development the sale loans which Hero Bless and Wisdom Giant
are indebted and may hereafter become indebted to Simply Global,
at a consideration of HK$250,000,000 (“Disposal II", together with
Disposal |, the “Disposals”).

As each of TACI and AGL is a substantial shareholder of the Company,
Advance Growth, being a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of TACI, and
AP Development, being an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL, are
connected persons of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the Disposals constituted connected transactions for the
Company.

As (i) more than one of the relevant percentage ratios (as defined in the
Listing Rules) in respect of Disposal | exceed 5% but are below 25%; (ii)
one of the relevant percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) in
respect of Disposal Il, both on a stand-alone basis and when aggregated
with Disposal |, exceeds 25% but is below 75%, the Disposals are subject
to the reporting, announcement, circular and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.



TRWEARAT — - —FFR

f||||

49

’rE&

RZEBEZZF+ZA=+—8 KXEEZEEH
BAR34E(ZE=—F : 304) r 28(=F=—
F o 2E)REARBME - REBBREMGZET
HIRE - WikEBRBENF € RICALEE - B
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HILFE  £A&H
EEFHREERSREEABTIZFBEIRN
AP RERMEIIR EFFMBRRZFS
EIREE RS EIEZ[FNEES |4
ﬁq °

BT EERAH I EERMEETHRRR
BRBHIEAES o
TERFRHEER

RERN  AEBSARSARAUER Z WAL
D RME AR E B Y AL 14% K 45% @ KAREBRA
RERBAHER Z RERED UG AR SRS
#9419 5%80% °

AREEMA - HERRRCETRMER5%IA L
MESE  REZETBEASEABRLENA
SESARUEPHMERHES T B

fEmo - BEXEED

REE-Z-__F+_A=+—HIFER K
NEIKEEMHEARBERED - HERERA
NaE]Z E RS

AN

AN (5 S
(IaESy==

ARBBNUEFEKFZEEETARATER - BA
NATERAZ CEERERZERIIREEER
BEFEIVIBEEF34H -

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Employees

As at 31st December, 2022, the Group employed 34 (2021: 30) persons,
all (2021: all) were employed in Hong Kong. The Group maintains a policy
of paying competitive remuneration packages and employees are also
rewarded on performance related basis including salary and bonus. Details
of the Directors’ emoluments and employees’ and senior management's
emoluments in the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2022 are
set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements. Details
of the remuneration policy of the Directors are set out in the “Remuneration
Committee” section contained in the Corporate Governance Report on
page 21.

In addition to basic salaries, full-time employees in Hong Kong are provided
with medical insurance and mandatory provident fund scheme.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group's largest
and the five largest customers were approximately 14% and 45% of the
Group's revenue respectively, and the aggregate purchases attributable to
the Group's largest and the five largest suppliers were approximately 41%
and 800% of the Group's purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders, which to
the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company's
total number of issued shares, had a beneficial interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

During the year ended 31st December, 2022, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's shares.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 11 to 34.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

=ED

TO THE MEMBERS OF ASIASEC PROPERTIES LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asiasec Properties
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 57 to 167, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st December, 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Key audit matter
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Valuation of investment properties

BB EMREERESBREZTH BN REMEMLE
Hig AU BHRRBEEBMEBEN  URREEAABER SR
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We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with
the significant judgments and estimations associated with
determining the fair value.

BUAR A M ISHRERM T 16T HE - EEBMZIEEWMERMR
BERPEARENBZESE  F£ - TEXESHEE  RZT
—oFE+ - B=+—H5HE51,297,022,000/8 7T - REE—
TF+A=1+—BIEFE - BESEHBEREREME
ZARBEES)AE27,457,0008 T E RS BRERAMER °

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties which
represent commercial, residential and carparks located in
Hong Kong and the People's Republic of China carried
at HK$1,297,022,000 as at 31st December, 2022.
During the year ended 31st December, 2022, a loss from
change in fair value of the Group's investment properties
of HK$27,457,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

BEEEZBARENETIZEB YA ERERNEE (A
Bb )T 2 RER AR BEEE o SERERS R EEEHE
ZETEZRRXNREZHARE  SEEARKESR  ER K
ERER Bz TS EMES -

All of the Group's investment properties are measured at
fair value with reference to the valuation performed by an
independent and qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”).
The valuation depends on certain significant assumptions and
key inputs that involve management's judgments, including
term vyield, revisionary yield and market unit rent.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

EMRERtRERRTERERZSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAERFHEREMER 2 EZ T

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

c AHERHEEDZBEES - RN REFEIL

. Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuer;

c  ERFEEMAEEBIENRTTE  METS KRR - HE
PRz ER2RR - MEMAZBARAGRHIL T2
AR

. Understanding the Valuer's valuation process and
methodology, the performance of the property markets,
significant assumptions adopted, critical judgmental
areas and key inputs used in the valuation;

c FHETEREZDEZREL K

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodology to
industry norms; and

© RERMEMEDENANE - EBLBRERBEZER
Kkmig8iE - FHEERE RHER RN TR HAR
BRI

. Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
adopted by management and the Valuer by comparing
them, on a sample basis, to entity-specific information
and market data based on our knowledge of the
property markets.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Other Information

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the Directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor's
report is Sze On Tat.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 16th March, 2023
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HERaX CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
BFP —E - —FFf A= —HIFEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
s —E-—F
2022 2021
B E F#T FHET
NOTES HKS$000 HK$000
A Revenue 5a 38,379 38,166
Hab A Other income 6 12,728 17,781
H b (B8 ) Waas Other (loss) gains 7 (549) 967
HE— B QR 2 &8 Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 8 - (1,467,958)
He kEMm Rent and rates (1,381) (1,257)
BFEER Building management fees (6,959) (6,948)
REKA(BEEZHE) Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments) (13,084) (12,516)
e K sH Depreciation and amortisation (198) (172)
HIERRE Repairs and maintenance (5.870) (935)
HihFsxz Other expenses (8.879) (15,373)
Ret ATEHE B EIEIEE 2 RE - Operating profit (loss) before
SHEFREANEYER SR T A impairment losses under expected
Z AR EBEEEH credit loss model, net of reversal and
KRN (EE) change in fair value of investment
properties and financial instruments 14,187 (1,448,245)
REREMEZ R REBE Loss from change in fair value of
E) s Eria investment properties 16 (27.457) (25,939)
TRHEEEERE ZRE - Impairment losses under expected
SRR credit loss model, net of reversal (22,691) (74,370)
FRBRRANBEEREZ Net decrease in fair value of financial
CRMEEZAAEBE assets at fair value through
R profit or loss (8.325) (15,272)
KRR Operating loss (44.286) (1,563,826)
FE(RHE AR R Share of loss of associates - (907)
R Al 1R Loss before taxation (44,286) (1,564,733)
FriS i 30 Income tax credit 9 585 1,681
REEEE Loss for the year 10 (43,701) (1,563,052)
b2 771} BN
HK cents HK cents
BRERE Loss per share

ER Basic 13 (3.52) (125.98)
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FeESREMZAKRER CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
ol - S - —E-—4F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$°000 HK8'000
RFEEE Loss for the year (43,701) (1,563,052)
Hih2mE(ER) K Other comprehensive (expense) income:
BER T 2B DT ftem that will not be reclassified subsequently to
ZHEE - profit or loss:
FREMEEWERAAEE Change in fair value of equity instrument
BREZBMATAZ AREE at fair value through other
=) comprehensive income (3.060) (797)
BETE R RE B AT D I E 1R i Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
ZHEA - profit or loss:
KERE R Currency translation differences (4,555) 1,986
RNEEHARE(EA) W Other comprehensive (expense) income
Btz for the year, net of tax (7,615) 1,189

rEEEHERER Total comprehensive expense for the year (51,316) (1,561,863)
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FaMERRE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
R-OE-_—F+—_H=+—H at 31st December, 2022
ol - S - —E-—4F
2022 2021
k=3 FET T
NOTES HKS000 HK3'000
HE ASSETS
ERBDEE Non-current assets
Y% - BB KRB Property, plant and equipment 15 1,071 1,269
"EME Investment properties 16 1,297,022 1,329,370
NNl Interests in associates 17 - -
FEWE K Loan receivables 21 78,024 111,592
BRBRRAABERIEZ Financial assets at fair value through

EEEE profit or loss 18 43,079 43,116
FHREMEEREIEAREEREZ  Equity instrument at fair value through

RATA other comprehensive income 19 29,600 32,660
(e Club memberships 4,261 4,261

1,453,057 1,522,268
mENEE Current assets
R 5 R E M pEW IR - Trade and other receivables,

TR RiES prepayments and deposits 20 26,752 37,693
FEWE K Loan receivables 21 76,705 64,737
FBRBRRANBERIEZ Financial assets at fair value through

CEIEE profit or loss 18 35,147 42,814
AJEREI FT1S R Income tax recoverable 1,785 3,961
HeRREEE Cash and cash equivalents 22 147,668 119,853

288,057 269,058
BRE Total assets 1,741,114 1,791,326
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e MBRRER(R) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

R-OE-_—F+—_H=+—H at 31st December, 2022

ot -t ZT=—F
2022 2021
k=3 FET T
NOTES HKS000 HK3'000
a2 EQUITY
&4 Share capital 23 681,899 681,899
s Reserves 872,206 923,522
s Total equity 1,554,105 1,605,421
&f® LIABILITIES
FREBDAR Non-current liability
BEHEAE Deferred tax liabilities 24 161,040 163,708
mEAR Current liabilities
R FIEREER Creditors and accruals 25 25,380 22,155
FERT PTG AL Income tax payable 589 42
25,969 22,197
HERE Total liabilities 187,009 185,905
HESRAR Total equity and liabilities 1,741,114 1,791,326

HHNES7TEEE167AZEEAMBRREN
Z_=F=-A+t A AREFSRBREENE
Y TIESHAREE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 167 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16th March, 2023
and are signed on its behalf by:

R E BRit
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau
BE BZ

Director Director
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FeEcEEER CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
g Wi ER
2.3 EftGE EfRH e 1 ] wERH HEa
Investment Property
Share  revaluation  revaluation Exchange Retained
capital reserve reserve reserve profits Total
TAL &L TET TEL TET AT
HKg000 HK§000 HKg000 HK$000 HKg000 HKg000
RZEZ—F—H—H  AtlstJanuary, 2021 681,899 23,403 78922 (6,104) 3,567,799 4345919
TEEFB Loss for the year - - - - (1563052)  (1,563,052)

BREMEEYE Change in fair value of equity
BRABEREZRA  instument at fair value through

TAZRREEEY other comprehensive income - (797) - - - (797)
BERERE Currency translation differences = = = 1,986 = 1,986
KEERW2E(ER)  Other comprehensive (expense)

b income for the year - (797) - 1,986 - 1,189
AERLE(ER) Total comprehensive (expense)

Wt income for the year - (797) - 1,986 (1563052)  (1,561,863)
ZIERIREArzE14)  Special dividend (note 14) - - - - (1178635  (1,178635)

R-B-—%F At 31st December, 2021

+=f=t-A 681,899 22,606 78922 (4118) 86112 1605421
AEEER Loss for the year - - - - (43,701) (43,701)

FREMENR Change in fair value of equity
BRABEREZRA  instument at fair value through

TAZDAEEEE  other comprehensive income - (3,060) - - - (3,060)
BERE RS Currengy translation differences - - = (4,555) = (4,555)
AEEEM2AER  Other comprehensive expense

for the year - (3,060) - (4,555) - (7,615)
NEEREERAE  Total comprehensive expense

for the year - (3,060) - (4555) @3701) (51316)
R-B_—% At 31st December, 2022

TZA=t+-AH 681,899 19,546 78,922 (8673) 782,411 1,554,105
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IFEHE&REE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
== —ET-—F
2022 2021
FEIT T
HK$000 HK8'000
BEEEY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BRTEAIEE Loss before taxation (44,286) (1,564,733)
A Adjustments for:
M - BEREEBIITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 198 172
JHEE SRR (st ) Net exchange loss (gain) 549 (967)
TBEEEEERE ZRE - Impairment loss under expected credit loss
etk izt model, net of reversal 22,691 74,370
KEREMEZ AAEBE Loss from change in fair value of investment
ZH)EE properties 27,457 25,939
HE—FIBARZES Loss on disposal of a subsidiary - 1,467,958
FEAGEE A RIEE Share of loss of associates - 907
RITFBHA Bank interest income (1,616) (935)
BRAEHA Loan interest income (8.967) (13,158)
FBRBERRANLBEREZ Net decrease in fair value of financial assets
TRIBE N BEFRD at fair value through profit or loss 8,325 15,272
2R B L FEUGRIE 2 F S U Interest income from other receivables (245) (237)
REFBEREANBEREZ Dividend income from financial assets at
EREEZREWA fair value through profit or loss (347) (3,242)
HEESEHRIC Operating cash flows before working
EERSM capital changes 3,759 1,346
R 5 R H M EWFIE - Decrease (increase) in trade and other
TARTER R R IR SR A (3 ) receivables, prepayments and deposits 8,706 (10,010)
FET IR K e R & 1L AN Increase in creditors and accruals 3,225 8,446
KE(AR)LEXEBE 2RSSR Cash from (used in) operations 15,690 (218)
EARPBEREAEH PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (21) -
BRE(E)BBMERH Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded (paid) 1,925 (11,148)
RE(AR)BERBZRERE NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 17,594 (11,366)




r||||

TREERAT — T FEH 63
FEBeRBR(E) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)
BF - E - = —HIFEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
== T
2022 2021
Pt FHT FET
NOTES HKS$000 HK$'000
BREXEH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BTEX Loan advanced 2,439 =
BEME - BELRE Purchases of property, plant and
equipment - (515)
Bk e ERBRE AR (EE Interest received from financial assets at
BRIB 2 B RAVEBEZ B fair value through profit or loss 1,068 2,489
PNEE A= VNCIFEF Repayment from associates - 80,280
BEREFFE Loan interest received 9,719 17,543
BEREN Loan repaid - 2,000
BUERTTHIE Bank interest received 1,616 881
BLUOR B E At i Wk IE 2 RIS A Interest received from other receivables 245 237
REHE—HMBARZ Net cash inflow from disposal of
BREFmA a subsidiary 8 - 1,020,645
REARBEBHZHRQBE NET CASH FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES 15,087 1,123,560
ARMEERZRSRE CASH USED IN A FINANCING
ACTIVITY
EARLE-) Dividend paid 14 - (1,178,635)
ReRBEEE NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN
B|m(RY )R8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 32,681 (66,441)
REMZHRER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
BRe&EE AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 119,853 186,175
SMERBENB ZHE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES (3,866) 119
RERZHRER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

BeSHE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 147,668 119,853
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

1.  General Information

Asiasec Properties Limited (“Company”) is a public limited company
incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Its parent is Autobest Holdings
Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding
company is Allied Group Limited (“AGL") (incorporated in Hong Kong and
listed on the Stock Exchange). The address of the registered office which
is also principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are property investment (including by way of
equity investment as details set out in note 19), property leasing and estate
management. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2. Application of Amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1st January, 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKFRS 16~ Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

2. Application of Amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates!

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction®

Amendments to HKAS 12

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2024

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) anticipate that the application
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

The management has, at the time of approving the consolidated financial
statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain properties and financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16"), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at
fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net assets of the
associate other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method
from the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest
in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

. the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

. the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods
or services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group's
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group's performance
completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which
the Group has the right to invoice.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15") to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the
original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications,
including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9") and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition of ownership
interest of a property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
buildings components, unless allocation cannot be made reliably.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling

and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and measured
under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term. The Group presents right-of-
use assets, if any, in “property, plant and equipment’, the same line item
within which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures

the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at

that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses
the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
the initial discount rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purpose.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has changed
as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property
revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant property revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or
accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Club memberships

Club memberships with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property, plant and equipment to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Dividend income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is
to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that
at initial application of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
term; or
. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial

instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designed and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
()  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

(i)  Equity instrument designated as at FVTOCI

Investment in equity instrument at FVTOCI is subsequently measured at fair
value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investment, and will continue to be held in the investment
revaluation reserve.

Dividends from the investment in equity instrument recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “revenue” line item in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “net increase
in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
(“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and loan receivables) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-months ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease
in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has
a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as
per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating
that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on an individual
basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic information.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group
has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash flows are
renegotiated or otherwise modified.
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Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial assets (continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group
assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial modification
from original terms taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers the terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees
paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not result in
derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial assets will
be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial assets' original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss at
the date of modification.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as

equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including creditors and tenant deposits are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of
an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that
the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised
as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of

financial position include cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits.




f I| TLL
9%
FEMBEHRRMEE(E)
BE - E - = —HIFE
. RREANBEROELRES
SRR ()

ReRieFEE)

AEERERBRME RELRE
XEENRERRSEE -

HEEeHEE

BRI

BRBEFIERA

[AERHFR AR S OHANREREHE
EEHRZRBEEINSER -

R TiE#

R B iR e B e (IR i TR A RE S B R
FIRNGEHER - RIS —HBEVBREELRE

KEA R ZENFABERA - BRIMBRH
BRERNOERARER -

kR B XN HERKIRE - BARE B R HIEHN
(Pl TENF S - FRIMRR)EREE -

Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from loss before taxation because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale,
which is always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by
the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

4.  Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from certain investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the Directors have
reviewed the Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group's investment properties are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time. Therefore, in determining the
deferred taxation on investment properties, the Directors have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale
is not rebutted. The Group has recognised deferred tax on changes in fair
value of investment properties as the Group is subject to income taxes on
the fair value changes of the investment properties on disposal.

As at 31st December, 2022, the carrying amount of deferred tax
on investment properties is amounted to HK$144,273,000 (2021:
HK$146,774,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

4.  Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. The determination of the
fair value involves certain assumptions of market conditions which are set
out in note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the management have exercised their
judgment and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions. Whilst the Group considers valuations of
the Group's investment properties are the best estimates, the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market volatility depending on
how the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve which have led to
higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current
year. Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of any
unexpected incidents as a result of change in macroeconomic environment,
travel restrictions implemented by many countries, increased complexity
in international trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/
or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result in
changes in the fair values of the Group's investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

4.  Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair values of investment properties (continued)

As at 31st December, 2022, the carrying amount of the Group's investment
properties is HK$1,297,022,000 (2021: HK$1,329,370,000).

Note 16 provide detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
these assets.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31st December, 2022, certain of the Group's financial assets
amounting to HK$72,679,000 (2021: HK$75,776,000) are measured at
fair value with fair value being determined by using valuation techniques
based on significant unobservable inputs. Judgment and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result
in material adjustments to the fair value of these instruments. Information
about fair value measurement of these financial instruments are set out in
notes 18, 19 and 30(c).




r||||

102

7 & B35 80 RO R (48)

BE—E_—F+-A=1—HIULFE

4. BEEEIHE R AEEEMEE 2
FERR@®E)
ez EZRIEF(E)

IR B R A5 F) 8 & R I o a9 AR 15
BEBERZ R

AEBERESEEFNENGRNEENEOE
18 SR RE JE U B SR AN AR B )R N Bt B IR IR Y
BEHMEEER  FBRAEMEaAEGTRMNERE
= o

EETRREEERN  AEEZBENGMEE

BEEFRAREERANER - ERNERESL N
REEARFHOATEEER(BFILEBZRA
50 METRHEEBENE - ARARER
BRI EMETRAE  REEENENRNEGE

BOENMER - ESEREAN  BEFTEE
OBEERA ORI - % BAEILER
Bt -

TBEEEBB 2 BEHEEB UK - ARHE
BB S EESIENERNA B TIEENE - &
BiRRe TAFEMNBHERE  BARMEEA
EEBERAENX EANRRES - R_T==
F+ZA=+—8 ' EWERKIEEF B REA
JE U B R BRI {E A 155,359,000/ L (= = —
& : 178519000/ T) * KR FEHEESER
103,138,000/ 70 ( =& = — £ : 79,843,000 %

7)o BEATEBEEEERASE 2 BIER KA
ftb FE U TR IR 2 BRI FE30(b) #5255 ©

Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

4.  Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision of ECL for loan receivables and related interest and
other receivables

The Group determines the ECL for loan receivables and related interest and
other receivables based on probability of default and loss given default for
each individual loan as each of them have different loss patterns.

In determining the ECL, the Group engages the Valuer to perform the
calculation of ECL taking into account on each of the borrowers and their
guarantor's background, repayment history of their loans and forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. The management of the Company works closely
with the Valuer to determine the appropriate default rate and loss given
default rate. At every reporting date, the probability of default and loss given
default are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to greater
financial uncertainty triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as there is
higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit
default rates. As at 31st December, 2022, the carrying amount of loan
receivables and related interest and other receivables is HK$155,359,000
(2021: HK$178,519,000), net of ECL of HK$103,138,000 (2021:
HK$79,843,000). Information about the ECL and the Group's loan
receivables and other receivables is disclosed in note 30(b).
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e MEERMEGE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF-E - FEf = — FIEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
5a. WA KD EBE RS 5a. Revenue and Segment Information
k- Sl —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$000
KREMENETEES Rental income from investment properties
WA that is fixed 32,164 31,304
VHEERE Estate management fees 4,715 5,362
REEBEMEEKGEAREE Dividend income from equity instrument
BRIE 2 IR T AR B at FVTOCI 1,500 1,500
38,379 38,166

METEENBAR —BREERER - A£ED
REBNERM B MERAE SN IEREERS
ISRAERMEEBENKA - BREHERE
BHMIERZEN - BEREIZBZREE ARE
MMETEE - RREBHIEHREEAE155R
R ZFRZF-—F+-A=+—8H
WA RBENEERBCMEESER T ZEHNE
HEH -

ARRMATERTCER RSN EERRE -
HWITEFRRARENMEHEERYEXEERA
—2ENE - WIRI AR BN BB BEER
At WEHEAEE 2B - ¥4 - BERAR
TEDEBAAT

R-TB-_—F+-A=+—H KRBEBEZEA
REEREZEREE BAHMEAKEEA
REBEEEEZRATARERERI - (RES
MpEARLFB([HRE]) 2 ERBEERES
Al & 1,244,637,0007%8 7t &% 57,717,0007%8 7t ( =
T = —4F 1 1,272,334,000% 7 & 62,566,000 75
TL) c RAFE - EBRFPEMSHAKAS
Bl A37,115,0007 78 % 1,264,000/ 70 ( = F = —
£ : 36,951,000/7T % 1,215,000/ 7T) °

Revenue from estate management fees is recognised over time. The Group
applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 to recognise revenue in the
amount that the Group has the right to invoice based on the terms of the
relevant lease agreements in which the Group bills a fixed monthly amount
in advance. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price of estate
management services allocated to the remaining performance obligations as
at 31st December, 2022 and 2021 is not disclosed.

The executive directors of the Company have been identified as the chief
operating decision maker. The executive directors regard the Group's
business as a single operating segment, which is property leasing and estate
management and reviews financial information as a whole accordingly.
Therefore, no segment analysis of the Group's revenue, results, assets and
liabilities are presented.

As at 31st December, 2022, other than financial assets at FVTPL, equity
instrument at FVTOCI and loan receivables, the total of non-current assets
located in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") are
HK$1,244,637,000 and HK$57,717,000 (2021: HK$1,272,334,000
and HK$62,566,000) respectively. During the current year, the total
revenue derived from Hong Kong and the PRC are HK$37,115,000 and
HK$1,264,000 (2021: HK$36,951,000 and HK$1,215,000) respectively.
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FEMBERERMEGE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BT A A — HIFEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

5b. TEEFZER

5b. Information about Major Customers

EREBBIIAT0%A EHBEFHEENME  Revenue from customers relating to rents from investment properties of

HERENEFPEALT the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group are as follows:
—E-—F —E-—4F
2022 2021
F#T FEx
HKS$000 HK$'000
ZPA Customer A 5,189 5,551
®FB Customer B N/A! 4,661
0 MR REEVUA S T BB A S B A A #1000 © ! The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group.
6. HAA 6. Other Income
—=E—— — T4
2022 2021
FAET FET
HKS000 HK$'000
|RITHLEHA Bank interest income 1,616 935
BERFLEMA Loan interest income 8,967 13,158
BURH B (Bat) Government grants (Note) 540 (16)
2R B E fth 8 W R 2 FI S A Interest income from other receivables 245 237
KEFEBIERRARBEREZ Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL
TRIEEZREWMA 347 3,242
KEFEZERARZ Management fee income from intermediate
BERBEWA holding company 864 144
Hitb Others 149 81
12,728 17,781

Miet - WAFE - ARERRUEIFBHHTRERS  Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government grants of HK$540,000

# SR B 5 B B BT LR AN 5 2 BURF 46 B (2021: penalty of government grants of HK$16,000) in respect of COVID-19-
/3540,000/8 T (=2 = —%F : BT EIHA related subsidies, which related to Employment Support Scheme was paid by Hong
16,000 7T) © Kong Special Administrative Region.
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REMIEmERMEGE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BF-—FE-——FF+ - H=+—HIEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
7. Hi(EE) W 7. Other (Loss) Gains
- —E-—4F
2022 2021
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HKE000
JHEE 3 (518 Y am Net exchange (loss) gain (549) 967

8. HE—FMBARZER

MN-TB-—FN\A-H AAFTEXZHERE
BRAR([ARZ DN —HEEZ2EMRB AR
T—1EE W 0 bA1,080,000,00078 T ARE
PERRAANEE AR 2 B (GZERENFAR
EBEMZFARTR) UBBHEERAF—H
WEREERNE2EWNBRAR 22 HE FHITRA
EBRRER - ZRHERT=_—F+A=F+)N
BEK  REBRLE —BHNBARZERA
1,467,958,000/8 LWt AR Z T Z—F 718z ©
ZHEZHBERER - —F N \A-_BAA
AR ZHE A RT -

8. Loss on Disposal of a Subsidiary

On 2nd August, 2021, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian An China
Investments Company Limited (“TACI"), to sell the Company's interests
in associates (such associates being private companies incorporated in
Hong Kong) through the disposal of the entire issued share capital and
shareholder's loan of an investment holding company, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, at the consideration of HK$1,080,000,000. The
transaction was completed on 28th October, 2021, and a loss on disposal
of a subsidiary of HK$1,467,958,000 was recognised and charged to the
profit or loss in 2021. Details of the disposal were disclosed in the joint
announcement of the Company and TACI dated 2nd August, 2021 and are
as follows:
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7 & B35 80 RO R (48) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
8. HE—FEMBARIZEE®) 8. Loss on Disposal of a Subsidiary (continued)
ZMBRARFEENHERNT The net assets of the subsidiary at the date of disposal were as follows:
—T-—%F
tAZ+N\R
28th October,
2021
&
HKg8'000
HERHE : Net assets disposed of:
REWE Investment properties 1,150
REEE ARz s Interests in associates 2,555,528
R 5 R Bt e WK Trade and other receivables 16
AIERBIFT1S 8 Income tax recoverable 124
RITHERERE Bank balances and cash 59,355
BIEHIERE Deferred tax liabilities (M
FERRIB R et B Creditors and accruals (6,329)
ARE A NCIE A Amounts due to associates (57,071)
FEAT A AR A RIAR SR Amount due to intermediate holding company (5,814)
HEFEE Net assets disposed of 2,546,958
HE &8 Loss on disposal (1,467,958)
&S PTSRUR Proceeds on disposal 1,079,000
RAFEREHRSRE Cash consideration received in current year 1,080,000
EERRERNRERE Cash consideration for assignment of shareholders' loans (1,000)
1,079,000
HEREEZBRERA - Net cash inflow arising on disposals:
RAFEWERRESRE Cash consideration received in current year 1,080,000
HEZRTFERRRE Bank balances and cash disposed of (59,355)

1,020,645
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7 & B35 80 RO R (48) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
9. PRSI 9. Income Tax Credit
- —E-—4F
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$000
X e The charge comprises:
REE Current year
—BBAED — Hong Kong Profits Tax 843 2,148
— RS — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 29 -
872 2,148
BEFEREEE Overprovision in prior years
—BEEH — Hong Kong Profits Tax (53) (154)
819 1,994
RAERIIB (H75F24) Deferred taxation (note 24) (1,404) (3,675)
REFEHIEN Income tax credit for the year (585) (1,681)

R=ZF—N\F=A=+—H8 BB LEGEBE=
T+ EHRBFUSE]) (B7HREOEZR(CEZED) -
ElMASIFEHESE - WERR T —\F
AT N\BEIKAERE  WHRBRATIEKR
ED) c EMBRFFERESET - FEEBHE
EEENE2E &5 TRE RS 250% - il
B2 E &R RS TSR 16.5% B - TRHAM
A% TS 53 6 2 A8 1 S B B B 0 K AR AR A
16.50%H) A — Tt EEAFR o

RIS ZEERE([DEMSFRED)
FIB R AEIIED - REMEFER - BHERF
B B8 2 RIH TR R A25% ©

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (“Bill") which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28th
March, 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law") and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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FEMBHEME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

9. FAIEEIEI@E) 9. Income Tax Credit (continued)

AEEHEHENEGSIBRRARTATERZ

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before

BT taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:
== T —F
2022 2021
FEIT TFET
HK$°000 HK8'000
B i A 5 1R Loss before taxation 44,286 1,564,733
REBSHME165% 2 218 Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax of 16.5%

(ZZE=—% : 16.5%) (2021: 16.5%) 7,307 258,181
TRBE 2 8 Effect of different tax rate 52 (269)
AR 2 2 BiIR Tax effect of expenses not deductible

za for tax purpose (7,228) (259,458)
FIERRTIA 2 BIA 2 Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 860 3,083
JERE B AT EMN 2 HIBR 2 Tax effect of share of results of associates - (150)
BEFEBRRRE Overprovision in prior years 53 154
AERHIRRE 2 THIAT & Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (6) (66)
A BERERTIAGRE Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses

ZBiER 2 not recognised 139 2
Hh Others (592) 204
NEZ S HEAN Income tax credit for the year 585 1,681
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FEMBEHRRMEE(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
10. NEEEE 10. Loss for the Year
- —E-—4F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$000
REEFEEHE Loss for the year has been arrived
at after charging:
mE - WELREBITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 198 172
2 S EWEIE 2 RE W (H15230(b)  Impairment allowance on trade receivables
(Bt AEARAX)) (note 30(b) (included in other expenses)) 234 1,741
FekAMmER Salaries and other costs 12,793 12,230
RUNERFTEI B3R Retirement benefits scheme contributions 291 286
EERABRE(BREESHS) Total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) 13,084 12,516
EAEESWAZREDEN Direct operating expenses of investment
BEEREEER properties that generated rental income 13,557 10,744
WEELEHSWAZIEEMER Direct operating expenses of investment
HEEEER properties that did not generate rental income 2,065 816

ZERRT B & Auditor's remuneration 1,605 2,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

11. Directors’ Emoluments

Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2022

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2021: seven)

U Directors were as follows:
g
2022
we/
RHER BRI
Hitig# RIS
Salaries/ Retirement
EEWE  service fees FIETE benefits
Directors’ and other Discretionary scheme @
fees benefits bonuses contributions Total
FET FET TFET TET FET
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BTEE Executive Directors
FHE Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 335 355 - 700
THE Lee Shu Yin 10 2,390 1,325 18 3,743
HR Edwin Lo King Yau 10 - - - 10
g4 Tao Tsan Sang 10 226 262 21 519
40 2,951 1,942 39 4,972

FRBERZHATESHEEARNFEEEARE R The Executive Director's emoluments shown above were for their services

el

AEEEG 2R in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.
BIHRTEER Independent
Non-Executive Directors

TR Li Chak Hung 10 118 - - 128

HRER Choi Kin Man 10 922 - - 102

D) 523 Lisa Yang Lai Sum 10 92 - - 102
30 302 - - 332

BRBRZ B IFATESTME AN EERAR
RAIZEEZ R

The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services as directors of the Company.

k) Total 5,304
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FeMBHERMEE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
11. EEMlE @) 11. Directors' Emoluments (continued)
R
2021
e/
MR & & RIRTEA
H iz BEESA
Salaries/ Retirement
EEikn service fees FETEAL benefits
Directors' and other  Discretionary scheme st
fees benefits bonuses  contributions Total
FET FET FET FET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BITEE Executive Directors
FHE Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 325 355 - 690
THE Lee Shu Yin 10 2,275 1,525 18 3,828
HR Edwin Lo King Yau 10 - - - 10
g4 Tao Tsan Sang 10 218 280 20 528
40 2,818 2,160 38 5,056

FPHBERZATEEM AN REEERRRI K The Executive Director's emoluments shown above were for their services
REBEERE 2R o in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.
BIEHRTEER Independent
Non-Executive Directors

TR Li Chak Hung 10 118 - - 128

2R Choi Kin Man 10 92 - - 102

D) 523 Lisa Yang Lai Sum 10 92 - - 102
30 302 - - 332

BN B N TES e @R EEIERR The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
NEIZERZ IR for their services as directors of the Company.

B Total 5,388
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FEMBEHRRMEE(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
11. EEMlE @) 11. Directors' Emoluments (continued)

TRERERTHBEREDRIBITARAREFEE  Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei and Mr. Lee Shu Yin perform the function of

THREHZBE  FRULREZMEEIEEIE  the chairman and chief executive of the Company respectively and their

RERRITREERERK 2 B2 emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by the
chairman and chief executive.

REBEZT-__FR=-F=_—F+=-HA=+—H None of the Directors waived any emoluments in the years ended 31st
HFE - WERESHERTAHE - December, 2022 and 2021.

12. EERSREEAENE 12. Employees’ and Senior Management's Emoluments

NE@z AUESE AL  2(=F=—4% : 2 Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, there are
f)AREE A4 eiERN kil - 83 two (2021: two) Directors of the Group whose emoluments are included
(ZE_—F ) ATHE_ZT-_—_F+=A innote 11 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2021: three)

=t+t—BIFEZMEHOT : individuals for the year ended 31st December, 2022 are as follows:
—E-—F — T4
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$000
e RHEMER] Salaries and other benefits 2,279 1,985
HEERE RS Performance related incentive payments 304 167
RTEFIFTEIHER Retirement benefits scheme contributions 54 54

2,637 2,206
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

12. Employees' and Senior Management's Emoluments
(continued)

ZEANLZBE M The emoluments of the individual are within the following bands:
= —E-—fF
2022 2021
ER®E EE&E
Number of Number of
employees employees
07 7C— 1,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 3
1,000,001,% 7% — 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 -

SREBABZHMERBER L AEMSR=U A+
BE-—S-—#p-_T-——F+-_B=+—HIF
FEZ&EEM -

REE 2 FMBERIRIRTT T 5 H KT R & 18R
SERRRERNRE ZRREE - REMFA -
REE W EA A& ME A T ERESM
AREERIMAAEBRRBEREERES
HE B 2 $REH o

13. FIREE

AR BIPRENE 2 BREAER TR THIBERG

=

The emolument of the senior management is included in the above highest
emoluments of the remaining three individuals for the years ended 31st
December, 2022 and 2021.

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing
remuneration level in the market and the performance of respective group
companies and individuals employees. During both years, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or a compensation for loss of
office as a director.

13. Loss Per Share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of the

= Company is based on the following data:
= =4
2022 2021
FET FEIT
HK$°000 HK8'000
iR Loss
AT ESREREEZ Loss for the year attributable to owners of
RNABIRREEARFE B the Company for the purpose of
basic loss per share 43,701 1,563,052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

13. Loss Per Share (continued)

- —E-—4F
2022 2021
F F
‘000 ‘000
B & Number of shares
B ESREREIEZ TEIRN Weighted average number of ordinary shares
hniEFa 8 for the purpose of basic loss per share 1,240,669 1,240,669

RIEZ—FERZZE-_—FER  WEHE7
SREESEE AR ZE-_—FER-_ZT——
FEANWEHETEINEELREE

No diluted loss per share for both 2022 and 2021 were presented as there
were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2022 and 2021.

14. B8 14. Dividend

—E-C T —F
2022 2021
FET &
HKS$000 HK3'000

REENERSRZER : Dividend recognised as distributions

during the year:
ENZZ—F2RRIRES A special dividend for 2021 paid of

FH%0.9578 7T HK$0.95 per share - 1,178,635

BEEgRrATERREEEZE_S_—_F+=A
=t+—HIEZRERE(ZE=_—F : &) -

The Board of Directors has resolved not to declare any interim dividend for
the year ended 3 1st December, 2022 (2021: nil).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
15. W%~ B Kkt 15. Property, Plant and Equipment
HELH
REEY
Leasehold BOZRME RHRKE RE
land and office Furniture Motor @
buildings  equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
FET FET FET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BFE cosT
R-ZE-_—%—A—H At 1st January, 2021 965 2,338 16,259 379 19,941
HERERE Currency translation difference - 1 1 - 2
BE Additions = = 215 300 515
iR Written-off - (13) - - (13)
R-E_—F& At 31st December, 2021
+-A=+—H 965 2,326 16,475 679 20,445
(BB E R Currency translation difference - Q) ) - 3)
R-Z-—F At 31st December, 2022
+=A=+—~ 965 2,325 16,473 679 20,442
HE DEPRECIATION
R-_E-_—%—H—H At 1st January, 2021 274 2,122 16,239 379 19,014
HERE AR Currency translation difference - 1 1 = 2
AREEFHE Provided for the year 18 75 39 40 172
T HIR Eliminated from written-off - (12) - - (12)
R-ZT——fF At 31st December, 2021
+=-A=+—AH 292 2,186 16,279 419 19,176
W (ERE R Currency translation difference - Q) ) - 3)
REFER Provided for the year 18 71 49 60 198
R-ZE-_—%& At 31st December, 2022
+=-A=+—H 310 2,256 16,326 479 19,371
IREE CARRYING VALUES
i S At 31st December, 2022
+ZA=+—H 655 69 147 200 1,071
R-ZT-—% At 31st December, 2021
+=A=+—~H 673 140 196 260 1,269
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REMBERERME(E)
BE-—F— =+ =H=F—FAILEE
15. % - BB NG

NEEBAYME BERRBZIITENSEEMR
ARERNBERERATFETE

HE 10 MR
Leasehold land and buildings

WAZRE

Office equipment

RREE
Furniture and fixtures

e

Motor vehicles

16. KB

AEERBELLEAELANEAINEASHEE
FEME  AEMENEHS - AEREHBE
B—ERNE(ZE-—F: —ENF) WEFE
FEEMNERECREERARFFHANRIAE
EERF(ZE—F : ZE=F) I - IDR&E
MATEEREERE  ARZEHEENEES
MIBEEIEK °

HEAHTEERHREERERMN, AR FEHR
ERRBEZMFRAEESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

15. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using
the straight-line method after taking into account of their estimated residual
values at the following rates per annum:

BRREHEEZFR  R=1+FER+F
Over the shorter of term of the lease, or 30 to 50 years

20%

20%

20%

16. Investment Properties

The Group leases out various residential properties, commercial properties
and carparks under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of one to six years (2021: one to
six years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial period for
three to six years (2021: two to three years) held by lessees only. Majority
of the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event the lessee
exercises the option to extend.

The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee's
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.
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FEMBERERMEGE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
16. IREWV= ) 16. Investment Properties (continued)
k- Sl —E-—F
2022 2021
FET TET
HK$°000 HK$000
AREE FAIR VALUE
REH At the beginning of the year 1,329,370 1,354,293
HERERE Currency translation difference (4.891) 2,166
HE Disposal - (1,150)
RABEFRD Net decrease in fair value recognised
RN B in profit or loss (27.457) (25,939)
RER At the end of the year 1,297,022 1,329,370

AEBREMENR T _—_FR-T-_—F
+ A=+ BZRAAEBEHEKNEEETq
B2 FHERN SRR A AR A RN E BiETT
fH1E -

FEft s Ah BEN - WENBENSER
BREBHAR - RERENEY A2 BECH
BOHRBNSESEERRRA  UEeE
e -

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 3 1st December,
2022 and 2021 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
on the respective dates by Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited, a valuer not
connected with the Group.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain investment
properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued operating
lease income to avoid double counting.

- Sl -3 B4
2022 2021
TFET FET
HKS000 HK$000

REMELR Investment properties are located in:
B Hong Kong 1,239,920 1,267,420
H PRC 57,102 61,950

1,297,022 1,329,370
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

16. Investment Properties (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair values of the
major investment properties are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which
the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the

e degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.
LRRE fEERER

FRARGERENR A FESH EiRREHALRREZRE

Investment properties  Fairvalue  Valuation techniques ESmEBR2Y Relationship of unobservable

held by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs for fair value

IR ER 2 EEW % E= REE(BHERE) BARRE(ZRITHEDE RAENRMRERSE THR HHBREENENEEHALER

Residential properties Level 3 Investment method (termand - BYEEIMAN R EFEERNER) B15%E2TS%(ZF Tk

in Hong Kong

reversionary approach)

IRBEA:
The key inputs are:

(1) MEkeEE
Term yield;

(2) EEkEE R
Reversionary yield; and

() EREummEEiES
Market unit rent of
individual unit

Z—F 1 50F25%) ©

Term yield, taking into account of yield generated from
comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be received, of 1.5% to
2.75% (2021: 1.5% to 2.5%).

ERURE(ZRITME BN EEEUTHHSNARE
fIi{E) 2002 3.25% (B =~ : 2005 3%) «
Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 2% to 3.25% (2021: 2% to 3%).

MEEMH S RERTSTLBMALER - WZ RIS
ffEREE - BRI - DR DR - FOTSELH
ENFHBTIREANETESTAREANET (28
~—F  BYHRERAETESTHIREA4SET) «
Market unit rent compares with direct market comparables
and taking into account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of property and facilties.
The range of average market unit rent is from around HK$31
sq.ft./month to HK$41 sqft/month (2021: HK$32 sqft/
month to HK$45 sqft/month).

The increase in the term yield would
result in a decrease in fair value.

EERAZNENESBALEE
T

The increase in the reversionary
yield would result in a decrease in
fair value.

TR NENESHOLBE
-

The increase in the market unit rent
would result in an increase in fair
value.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —E - A=+ —HILEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
16. IREWV= ) 16. Investment Properties (continued)

AREE fEERER

FREFBERRNR A FESR ELRRSHALAREZRE
Investment properties  Fairvalue  Valuation techniques ESRLBR2Y Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs for fair value
frRE# 2 BRYR E= REE(BHERE) BHERAX(ZRITHENERABURBRERS T BARSENENSEHRALEE
Commercial properties Level 3 Investment method (termand W ER A 78 B UL A A B M AT R A MY Mg ) 200 4250 TR o

in Hong Kong

reversionary approach)

IE2EA:
The key inputs are:

(1) A%

Term yield;

Q) #EHERE: R
Reversionary yield; and

() EREuMEELES
Market unit rent of
individual unit

(ZBZ—F 1 20%3.75%) ©

Term vyield, taking into account of yield generated from
comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be received, of 2% to 4.25%
(2021: 2% 1o 3.75%).

ERRRE(ZEITHBNENFEENTHHSNARE
L E)A2.5%24.25% (ZB=—% : 25%F425%) °
Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 2.5% to 4.25% (2021: 2.5% to 4.25%).

s EA S HERTHTHRMELER - 2B HEA
EfERIRR  MERER  NEANNRE - TS
EURENTFOETIREAUSELESTIREAI20
BL(CE_—%: §YIREAMETES Y IREA135
BT)

Market unit rent compares with direct market comparables
and taking into account of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and facilities. The
range of average market unit rent is from around HK$14.5
sqft/month to HK§120 sqft/month (2021: HK$14 sqft/
month to HK$135 sq.ft/month).

The increase in the term yield would
result in a decrease in fair value.

T e

The increase in the reversionary
yield would result in a decrease in
fair value.

TRERSHENE SR L BE
e

The increase in the market unit rent
would result in an increase in fair
value.
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for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

16. Investment Properties (continued)

LRRE HERER
FRERBARENR 3 TESH ELRRSBAMRAECHE
Investment properties  Fairvalue  Valuation techniques EERLERSY Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs for fair value
(IR B 2 Bl E REE(BHERE) REARRE(ERITLENERBENRERERE TUR BEREENENEEHLLER
Caparks in Hong Kong ~ Level 3 Investment method (termand BV BB A RORRTE H AT AL ) R4 25% (ZBZ—%: TH-

reversionary approach)

IE2EA:
The key inputs are:

(1) A%

Term yield;

Q) #EHERE: R
Reversionary yield; and

() EREuMEELES
Market unit rent of
individual unit

4.2500)°
Term vyield, taking into account of yield generated from
comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be received, of 4.25% (2021
4250).

ERRRE(ZEITHBNENFEENTHHSNARE
frE)A4.75% (ZE=—F : 475%) -

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 4.75% (2021: 4.75%).

MBS REE TS A LB - WEEFH AL
EAEE  MBRERNRE - TOmSELALNEA
360087 (ZF=—% : 18 A3,700%T) °

Market unit rent compares with direct market comparables
and taking into account of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage and facilities. The average market unit
rent is around HK$3,600/month (2021: around HK$3,700/
month)

The increase in the term yield would
result in a decrease in fair value.

T e

The increase in the reversionary
yield would result in a decrease in
fair value.

TAERSHENEEHL L BE
e

The increase in the market unit rent
would result in an increase in fair
value.



f||||

TRMEERAT S _FFR 121
FEMEEERME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
16. IREWV= ) 16. Investment Properties (continued)
AREE fEERER
FRARGRRENR A TESH ELRRSHALAREZRE
Investment properties  Fairvalue  Valuation techniques ESRLBR2Y Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs for fair value
rRHE FEh % E= REE(BHERE) RERRER(ZRITHENE AL RRRELSTUR BARSENENSBH AL BE
Residential properties Level 3 Investment method (termand ~ BYR M AMIBRTE LR RN %) 21 2500 2.25% (2 TR o
inPRC reversionary approach) T 1 1250£2.25%) ©
Term vyield, taking into account of yield generated from  The increase in the term yield would
IES8A: comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty result in a decrease in fair value.

The key inputs are:

(1) A%

Term yield;

Q) #EHERE: R
Reversionary yield; and

() EREuMEELES
Market unit rent of
individual unit

of term income secured and to be received, of 1.25% to
2.25% (2021: 1.25% to 2.25%).

ERURE(ZRIML BN EREUTSHENARE
AL E)51.75%22.75% (ZF=—% : 1.75%F2.75%) °
Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 1.75% to 2.75% (2021: 1.75% to 2.75%).

MBS REE TS A LB - WEEFH AL
{ERRE - MERER - MEANRS - PETRENH
ENFHBTHREA16TAREKEFTAREA210TA
R¥ (Z2=—F : GYIREMTAREZ BT IAE
R205TTAR%) -

Market unit rent compares with direct market comparables
and taking into account of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and facilities. The
range of average market unit rent is from around RMB126
sq.m./month to RMB210 sq.m./month (2021: RMB127
sq.m./month to RMB205 sq.m./month).

T e

The increase in the reversionary
yield would result in a decrease in
fair value.

TAERSHENEEHL L BE
e

The increase in the market unit rent
would result in an increase in fair
value.
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for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

16. Investment Properties (continued)

AREE fEERER
FREFBERRNR A FESR ELRRSHALAREZRE
Investment properties  Fairvalue  Valuation techniques ESRLBR2Y Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs for fair value
A WAEE S E= REE(BHERE) BRRER(ERITLENXRAEARRRERATUR BARSENENSBHRALBE
Commercial properties Level 3 Investment method (termand BB AMBEHFTELE MR E) A35% (Z22-F: TH-
inPRC reversionary approach) 3.500) ©
Term vyield, taking into account of yield generated from  The increase in the term yield would
TEZE: comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty result in a decrease in fair value.

The key inputs are:

(1) A%

Term yield;

Q) #EHERE: R
Reversionary yield; and

() EREuMEELES
Market unit rent of
individual unit

of term income secured and to be received, of 3.5% (2021:
3.50).

ERRRE(ZEITHBNENFEENTHHSNARE
L&) A4 (ZZ=—% : 4%) -

Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 4% (2021: 4%).

MBS REE TS A LB - WEEFH AL
{ERRE - MERER - MEANRS - PETRENH
SNTHBTHREAIZTARE (Z22—F: 4K
BA125TARY) -

Market unit rent compares with direct market comparables
and taking into account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of property and facilities.
The range of average market unit rent is around RMB123
sq.m./month (2021: RMB125 sq.m./month).

T e

The increase in the reversionary
yield would result in a decrease in
fair value.

TAERSHENEEHL L BE
e

The increase in the market unit rent
would result in an increase in fair
value.
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FEMBHEME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BF-—FE-——FF+ - H=+—HIEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
17. REtE AR 2 Em 17. Interests in Associates
= T
2022 2021
FET FHET
HKS000 HKE000
WEZERA LM Cost of investments, unlisted - -
FER U RETE 2 % T K& Share of post-acquisition profits and other
E b 2w comprehensive income, net of dividends
FRAR B 1% received - =

REBE-Z-_—F+-A=+—H &R During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Company entered into
ZH—HEEEENBRRGIZLT —1E
& HE—RNEBAR - MaZA %G

ZHE - HE—RNBARZERFHEN M

Gk
=) a sale and purchase agreement with a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
AL
=)

TACI, to disposal of the subsidiary which included interests in associates.

oo L\) )ﬂlﬂﬁ \E:“r
o g M

Details of the disposal of a subsidiary was set out in note 8.

I REREEREERARRPEZMIEES  The investment cost in Beijing Jingyuan Property Development Co.,
BRBERIRETIRNETEES - Ltd. incorporated in PRC was fully written off and under the process of
liquidation.

FTEMERAN T —FR-_FT——4F+=F Details of the principal associates as at 31st December, 2022 and 2021
=+—HZERFFERHIEE33D) ° were set out in note 33(b).
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17. Interests in Associates (continued)

EXBHEBLARCHMESHEE Summarised financial information of material associate
Zeta Estates Limited Zeta Estates Limited
REER
—E-—%F
TAZ+TAR
As at
disposal date
28th October
2021
T
HKg'000
MENEE Current assets 1,306,864
EMENEE Non-current assets 6,692,544
neaE Current liabilities (174,510)
JERBEE Non-current liabilities (1,172,635)
PREEREBESRE The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:
BREATAR :
BB Investment properties 6,691,360
ReRAEEE Cash and cash equivalents 20,259
A Revenue 291,174

REMEZ AR BEZE

AEZEHEREZEAER
#ER

AZRFZ 5K A Zeta Estates Limited
2B

Change in fair value of investment properties

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year

Dividends from Zeta Estates Limited during the year

(74,600)

(47,335)
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e MG |MRMEE(H]) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BF-—FE-——FF+ - H=+—HIEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
17. REtE R a2 =) 17. Interests in Associates (continued)
EXBEAFCHBEHBE(E) Summarised financial information of material associate (continued)
Zeta Estates Limited(#&) Zeta Estates Limited (continued)

T AR E RS A B RETRER 2 Zeta  Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
Estates Limited## 2 2 BREEEBRINT ¢ carrying amount of the interest in Zeta Estates Limited recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

REEHR
B4
+HB=+NH
As at
disposal date
28th October

2021
T
HK$000
Zeta Estates Limited 2 jF & & Net assets of Zeta Estates Limited 6,652,263
R [E A Zeta Estates Limited Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Zeta Estates Limited
2R 7 BREE (R E B A i (Proportion of the Group's ownership interest of 33.330)
M2 #B1) A33.33%) 2,217,421
ERIZEER 2Bt R R 2 EEER Aggregate information of associates that were not individually material:
REEH
T —F
+A=t+NR
As at
disposal date
28th October
2021
FHET
HK'000
REBRIEARFHE 2 The Group's share of total comprehensive income
2 H W #5E for the year 14,871
REBPNZERENFZ Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests
EmREAE in these associates 338,107

NEER-—T——®F+A—+/\B B2 A7~ Asatdisposal date 28th October 2021, the major non-current assets of
TEEAHEEAMAE S 2L EYWE Lt the associates represent investment properties in Hong Kong amounting
7,489,360,000% 7T+ H 12629453000 08 to HK$7,489,360,000 of which HK$2,629,453,000 was attributable to the
BRAEHE - Group.
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FEMBEHRRMEE(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

18. BBBHIEAABEKEZEMM 18, Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

- —E-—4F

2022 2021

FEiT FET

HKS000 HK$000

FEMREES Unlisted investment funds 78,226 85,930
HERMAOTEL 2T Analysed for reporting purpose as:

FRBEE Non-current assets 43,079 43,116

MENEE Current assets 35,147 42,814

78,226 85,930

A FatiEEY U AR EENEE - RAEE=E Al of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the fair
BEFBEETIRTE30(c) © value measurements are set out in note 30(c).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BF-—FE-——FF+ - H=+—HIEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
19. FBEMEERFIZAAMBER 19. Equity Instrument at Fair Value through Other
BZRATA Comprehensive Income
—E_—F T —F
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FREMEEEEIEAREEERE 2 Equity instrument at FVTOCI (Note a)
BRAT R (Heta) 29,600 32,660

Brat - Notes:

@) EZﬁgﬁiﬁﬁﬁ ErEREYEIRENIELTAT (@  The amount represents the Group's 5% (2021: 59%) equity interest in an unlisted
BI5%(ZZ = —4 : 500)RIE - company, which is principally engaged in property investment.

b) FAELRREHAARBER  EHENRK (b)) The above investment is stated at fair value and details of the fair value
F130(c) © measurements are set out in note 30(c).

20. K MEMEKFIE « TBFERF  20. Trade and Other Receivables, Prepayments and

Nir& Deposits
= —Z-—4F
2022 2021
FBT FET
HKS000 HK$'000
R 5 WG IE Trade receivables 14,624 17,068
HAtb FEUGRIA Other receivables 10,636 18,922
BRERTR RiEe Prepayments and deposits 1,492 1,703

26,752 37,693
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FREMBERME(]) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

20. X REMEUWGRIA - TEFFERFK  20. Trade and Other Receivables, Prepayments and
NS (&) Deposits (continued)

LT HREWFIE AT EKGRIE - 2K GKIERER  Trade receivables represent rental receivable which are receivable on the
BENFURMEBER - B W AKZ 2R —  presentation of debit notes. Rental income is billed in advance at month-
B2 AERMELY - AEEBEIRMEI08EZE8  end. The Group generally allows a credit period of 30 days to its tenant.
FHAP - AEE X FHEWHBENGEERE  The aging of these trade receivables of the Group, net of provisions and in

BUWATER B RRAT - accordance with the revenue recognition dates, is as follows:
== —E-—4F
2022 2021
FET TFET
HK$°000 HK8'000
30BA Within 30 days 13,366 13,951
31HZ60H 31-60 days 733 1,520
61BZE90H 61-90 days 6 -
91HZE120H 91-120 days 348 1,137
121HZ180H 121-180 days 171 460
14,624 17,068

HE"Z-—"#+-F=+—8 AEEXSE As at 31st December, 2022, included in the Group's trade receivables
WHTESRBERBEZEBA  REE®REHBE  balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,492,000
BH - HAARRE S8 /51,492,0008 (=2 =—  (2021: HK$4,858,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of
£ © 4,858,000/ 7T) ° FERIEASA%ES » 519,000  the past due balances, HK$519,000 (2021: HK$1,597,000) has been past
TL(ZZT=—4% : 1,597,000/ 7T)E#EHO0KE  due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default since the balances
REEHE - T HEREL  HESBEEERE  are mainly with long term credit customers with good credit quality. An
ERRERFNEHREERS - HEKSAEYE  impairment allowance of HK$234,000 (2021: HK$1,741,000) was made
Ref - R—ZT-—F+—-A=+—H:HTRE% at 31st December, 2022 on debtors which are having financial difficulty
#5234,000%8 C(=ZF=—4F : 1,741,000%7t)  which was recognised in other expenses.

WEFFAEMEH -



TEMESRAT —E-_FFR 129

FEMBHEME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

20. R KREMEWFRIE - FEFFERFK  20. Trade and Other Receivables, Prepayments and
NS (&) Deposits (continued)

BTSRRI M EB LA - KSR HEM  The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are denominated in
FEW IR £ BREELR T HI G ESIFE - currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities
are set out below:

—=E-= T

2022 2021

FBT FET

HK$°000 HK$'000

ARBE(TARK D) Renminbi ("RMB") - 26
E(E V)] United States Dollars ("USD") 588 4,284
588 4,310

BHEZ_ZT-_—_F+-A=1+—8 EMEWI As at 31st December, 2022, included in other receivables are balance of
THH B FE 8458 54,338,000 L (Z T = —F HK$4,338,000 (2021: HK$4,043,000) which bears interest of 5.63%
4,043,000/ 7T) © F2R563%(=ZF=—% :  (2021:5%) and is repayable on demand.

5%) » RAHRERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

21. Loan Receivables

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has loan receivables from
four (2021: four) parties which bear fixed and variable interest rate ranging
from 4.75% to 15% (2021: 4.75% to 15%) per annum. In respect of four
(2021: four) loan receivables as at 31st December, 2022, one (2021:
one) is unsecured and guaranteed and two (2021: two) are secured and
guaranteed and one (2021: one) are unsecured and unguaranteed, and
have maturity dates ranging from October 2021 to November 2024 (2021:
October 2021 to November 2024) and are analysed as follows:

s —E-—F

2022 2021

FHET F#IT

HKS000 HK'000

REEZ BBERBE The Group's loan receivable comprise:

U (A7) Note receivables (Notes) 175,740 174,390
B RE Less: Impairment (97,716) (75,326)
78,024 99,064

Hb R ER Other loan receivables 78,707 79,146
o ORME Less: Impairment (2,002) (1,881)
76,705 77,265

154,729 176,329
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FREMBERME(]) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
. BRIRE R () 21. Loan Receivables (continued)
—E—- —E-—4F
2022 2021
FEIT TFET
HKS000 HK$'000
RERMAOTIEL 2T Analysed for reporting purpose as:
IERBEE Non-current assets 78,024 111,592
BB E Current assets 76,705 64,737
154,729 176,329
Hist - Note:

B EEOEMREANEERZERITARBZERE
¥ o —R&FA78,100,0008 T2 EREBHBEEER
ZEMHBRARFEEARAR(TFBEDOHEAR
RZZT-—NF+—ABRTYHAANEERE - Z2EER
- WAITBEREER - BERBEHE76,000%7T
(ZZ=—% : 54000/ 7T) °

BREREE S H97,640,0008 T H — BB LT
ARI(TBITADZHBRARIR =2 —\F+ %1 H
AEEIFE  ZZEHBTANMBRBZE TRHIE
WA —BAEAABRERERAER o AREITARRE
E-T=—F+ARHRERASMERERFE - K
EZEFREBRENW BT HMEI7,640,0008T(=F
Z—4F : 75272,0008 L) st ARBE_S_=F+=8
=t+—H - ZREZBEFEEEBER =T —N\FT+A
+—BERARZAM

ZIEREEEEREHESREBLAGERNE
A ERER A E AR AR AMET AT

HE o BB A BERRHEE300)

The note receivables included two loan notes which was subscribed by the Group at
the notes issuance date. A loan note in the amount of HK$78,100,000 was issued by a
subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK"), a listed subsidiary of AGL, in November
2019 and held by the Group, which was unsecured and guaranteed by SHK. Impairment
allowance in the amount of HK$76,000 (2021: HK$54,000) has been made.

The other loan note in the amount of HK$97,640,000 was issued by a subsidiary of an
independent listed company (“Issuer”) in October 2018 and held by the Group, which was
secured by certain shares of the Issuer's subsidiaries and an individual personal guarantor.
The loan note was in default as the Issuer failed to repay both the principal amount and
loan interest receivable upon maturity in October 2021, leading to the recognition of the
impairment in the amount of HK$97,640,000 (2021: HK$75,272,000) which is fully
impaired as at 3 1st December, 2022. Details of the subscription of the note was disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 11th October, 2018.

The ECL was determined by the Directors, based on a valuation performed
by an independent and qualified professional value, Norton Appraisal
Holdings Limited. Details of impairment assessment are set out in note
30(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

21. Loan Receivables (continued)

As at 31st December, 2022, the carrying amount of note and other loan
receivables amounting to HK$42,998,000 (2021: HK$64,737,000) are
pledged with collaterals such as debentures (2021: debentures). The
Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collaterals in the absence of
default by the borrower. There has not been any significant changes in the
quality of the collateral held for the note and other loan receivables. The
Group has not recognised a loss allowance for the note and other loan
receivables as a result of these collaterals, except for a note receivable with
a principal amount of HK$97,640,000 (2021: HK$96,890,000) which has
default in repayment of both principal and interest receivable during the
year ended 3 1st December, 2022 and 2021.

BT HESEEE e SN - AEEZE  The Group's loan receivables that are denominated in currencies other than
WEFIE T 5 S EAFHE the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:
== T —F
2022 2021
FETT FHET
HKS000 HK8'000
X7 usD 78,024 99,064
22. RERBEEFE 22. Cash and Cash Equivalents
—E-f —T——F
2022 2021
F#T FHET
HKS$000 HKg'000
RekReEFE: Cash and cash equivalents:
RITER RIS Cash at bank and in hand 33,669 74,339
2 RRIRIT IR Short-term bank deposits with original
(R =1EAREIE) maturity within three months 113,999 45,514
meaRenRzRe R Cash and cash equivalents for consolidated
REFEEHN statement of cash flows analysis 147,668 119,853

ZIRITHHBMEBHAL22%E5.600% (=T = —4F :
0.28%%2.03%) °

As at 31st December 2022, the cash and cash equivalents carry prevailing
market rates ranging from 4.22% to 5.609% (2021: 0.28% to 2.03%) per
annum.
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FEMBEHRRMEE(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

22. ReKRSFE®@®) 22. Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued)

B THESETRE 2SN e KIS The cash and cash equivalents are denominated in currencies other than

SER T KR BELIIFHE - the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:
- B —4F
2022 2021
F#&T FET
HK$°000 HK8'000
AREE RMB 20 22
eV usD 2,618 23,423
2,638 23,445
23. &ZR 23. Share Capital
BB &
Number of
shares HK8'000
BEITRAR Issued and fully paid:
RZTE-_—%—H—H" At st January, 2021, 31st December, 2021,
—ET-—H+—-HA=+—8" Tst January, 2022 and 3 1st December, 2022
—T__H—F—Bk
—EF+ZA=+—H 1,240,668,945 681,899
ARRIZMBRANREBE_FT_—_FF_F——  None of the Company's subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of

FHZA=+-BLEFERNRARBE - HEXME  the Company's listed securities during the year ended 31st December,
EERADELZ EHES 2022 and 2021.
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24, EERIBAE 24. Deferred Tax Liabilities

MAEERBEFEEERANELCHEEEREE  The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements

g thereon during the current and prior years:
TR ER
REMRIE
Land
appreciation
LREE tax and Hth st
Fair value other tax Other Total
TET T&T TET &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK3'000
R-ZE-——4F—HF—H At Tst January, 2021 151,264 14,352 1,233 166,849
RERN B B (BE) (Credit) charge to profit or loss
kR for the year (4,490) 732 83 (3,675)
e Disposal - - m M
HERERE Currency translation difference - 535 - 535
R At 31st December, 2021
+=A=+—H 146,774 15,619 1,315 163,708
RENB1B=(EE) (Credit) charge to profit or loss
R for the year (2,501) 618 479 (1,404)
BERERFE Currency translation difference - (1,264) - (1,264)
AT -4 At 31st December, 2022
+=A=+—H 144,273 14,973 1,794 161,040

RMEBAR - AEBHBAIEFERIGF 2K At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses of
B AHIEEER3401,00087T(ZF=Z—%F :  approximately HK$3,401,000 (2021: HK$4,209,000) available to offset
4,209,000/ 7T ) ° AN EETAFARMAN - I against future assessable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
BT < BIEEBRRARLERIEEE - in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

FZERB AT IAEIE A AERIRE o These unused tax losses have no expiry date.
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25. ENTRIERERTE A 25. Creditors and Accruals
—E—- —E-—4F
2022 2021
TFET FET
HKS000 HK$000
R 5 ERTIE Trade creditors 1,640 371
H b fE 518 Other creditors 5,951 6,185
HPEs Tenants deposits 14,377 12,244
EEtEEER Accrued operating expenses 3,412 3,355
25,380 22,155
AEE 2R GENFIBREZ A ZRENT The ageing of the trade creditors of the Group in accordance with invoice
date is as follows:
—E-F — - —4F
2022 2021
TFET FET
HKS000 HK$000
30BA Within 30 days 1,228 356
31HZ60H 31-60 days 397 -
1208 A k£ Over 120 days 15 15

1,640 371
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

26. Operating Leases Commitments

Property rental income earned during the year was HK$32,164,000
(2021: HK$31,304,000). The properties held had committed leases
mainly running for the next one to three years (2021: one to four years).
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments as lessor under non-cancellable operating leases
which fall due as follows:

== —E-—4F
2022 2021
FHET FHEIT
HK$°000 HK$'000

AR EEHER K Undiscounted fixed lease payments

ERHREFAT : receivables on leases are as follows:
R—FZA Within one year 35,870 26,283
RE=F In the second year 23,895 18,055
RE=F In the third year 8,191 10,385
REMEF In the fourth year - 264
67,956 54,987
RIKENETE 27. Retirement Benefit Plans

AEEZERBBESHIN_FTTF+ A
Rz giae Rt 8 ([aEestal])) - ZFatélz
BERAEEZEENHRTE ARRAEEZ
EREESAEE

HRAESTEKNE EERAEEZHIA
BES A ERFHE 25% @ 8 HMH LR A30,000
BIL(ZZ=—% : 30,000/87T) °
REE-T-__F+-_A=+—RHLFER " &
£ BB X 2 RNEFRE B 5 R291,0007 7T
(== =—%F : 286,000/87L) °

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme") established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the scheme is held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

Both employees’ and the Group's contributions are calculated at 5%
of the employee’s monthly relevant income, with the mandatory cap of
HK$30,000 (202 1: HK$30,000).

During the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefits scheme of HK$291,000 (2021:
HK$286,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

28. Related Parties Transactions and Balances

During the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Group had transactions
and balances with related parties as follows:

(a) BRABEAES : (a) Related party transactions:
== —E-—4F
2022 2021
FHET FET
HK$000 HK8'000
BREIERATR  BaRER Ultimate holding company, AGL and
HB AR its subsidiaries
—AAEEKEHES — Rent, estate management and
MEEENRZERER air-conditioning fees charged to the Group 913 929
— AR B R A B PR — Internal audit service and management
EEEMRAGREER information system service fee charged
to the Group 303 340
— (AR SR B U ) LA B R — Sundry expenses charged to the Group 244 D%
e sE s —HEMEAR— A subsidiary of AGL, SHK and
REREME AT its subsidiaries
— REEBREHF S WA — Interest income earned by the Group 4,483 4,456
HREERAR] - R K Intermediate holding company, TACI, and
HfE AR its subsidiaries
— REEBRERF S WA — Interest income earned by the Group 1,666 1,554
— RNEEREAE RIS E WA — Management fee income earned by the Group 864 144
—AARE BRI EERT & — Management fee charged to the Group 1,650 2,300
— MRS E U B A B — Sundry expenses charged to the Group 15 1
—AEEHE-FHNBAR — Disposal of a subsidiary by the Group - 1,080,000

(b) FEEEBARHH

IBERABNFHaTMEZESZBEARRA

(b) Key management personnel compensation

RSB EMEE

RAFEENRENTAABAEIEETEEASR -
HAEE ZH BN -

The remuneration of key management is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

The remuneration paid and payable to the key management of the
Company, who are the Directors, for the year is set out in note 11.
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28. ¥R 5 MESRE)

28. Related Parties Transactions and Balances (continued)

(c) FRBkFSHEER (c) Related party balances
s —E-—F
2022 2021
F#T FHET
HKS000 HK$'000
SAERAT] - A RER Ultimate holding company, AGL and
HMEAA] its subsidiaries
— HAb eI — Other payables (included in trade creditors
(Bt AR BERFIE K and accrued operating expenses)
FEEt2ERR) 198 141
HeEEz —MHEBAR— A subsidiary of AGL, SHK and its subsidiaries
B EREMB AT
— R E R — Loan receivable
(Bt ABWER) (H7#) (included in loan receivables) (Note i) 78,100 77,500
— HAth EIKRIR — Other receivable
(Bt AR FEWRIR) (included in other receivables) 578 574
HREERAR] - R K Intermediate holding company, TACI
HKTE QR and its subsidiaries
—RWE R — Loan receivable
(B FTARBWER) (A tii) (included in loan receivables) (Note i) 33,707 34,146
— HAth EIKRRIA — Other receivable
(B &AM FEUGRIE) (included in other receivables) 3,781 9,101

FEfSEE & B R E KB AR 2 RFIG REIER
BN ERARERER -

The amounts due to AGL and its subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

BRTRZZE-_—FTALE—EMBARZERRE  Except for the disposal of a subsidiary to a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
ERABIRZH—HEEE2ERBARSN - #  TAC, intermediate holding company in October 2021, as disclosed in note
MizEepr#iEe « FilBARAZ S PR EmARAIE 8, none of the above related party transactions constitutes a connected
BB S FERABZS - transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined in the Listing
Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

28. Related Parties Transactions and Balances (continued)

() Related party balances (continued)

Notes:

0) The loan receivable bears interest of 5.75% per annum, is unsecured, guaranteed,
repayable in November 2024 and is included in loan receivables.

(i)  The loan receivable bears interest of 4.75% per annum, is unsecured,
unguaranteed, repayable in June 2023 and is included in loan receivables.

29. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. As a part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends and repurchase of shares.
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BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

30. @R T A

(a) &MIARZEHN

30. Financial Instruments

(a) Categories of financial instruments

—=E-= T
2022 2021
TET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000

SRMEE
BBBERANBEREZSREE
BREMEEBERA A (EERE
ZBAT A
REHRAT R S REE

AR
RESHA ST E

(b) MBERBRERABRRBR

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL 78,226 85,930
Equity instrument at FVTOCI

29,600 32,660
Financial assets at amortised cost 327,657 332,172
435,483 450,762

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost 21,968 18,800

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

AEBEZFEeHTERESERIERIEANLEME  The Group's major finandial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL,
BEZEMAE  BBRHEMEZERGZARE  equity instrument at FVTOCI, trade receivables, other receivables, loan
EREZRATAR - X5 BUGIR - H i EUR receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade creditors, other creditors

B RBEER BRekBREEFEE R
B HtRENREREFPES - ZFERTAF
BREMEIRE ZSEMIAFHEZARE
EhHRR(ONERR - MR E R &AM ERR
%) EERRNREIERER o T XEFI AR
ZERBIEEK - ARBZEEEEEREEZ

2 A 5K

and tenants deposits. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors

EEE - R R B A KRR E > i o these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.
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30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk
() Currency risk

The Group has trade receivables, other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and trade creditors that are denominated in foreign currencies
which are different from the functional currency of the respective group
entity and accordingly expose the Group to currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency exposure. However, the management monitors the related
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary
liabilities denominated in currency other than the functional currencies of
the relevant group entities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

BE af®

Assets Liabilities
k- S -3 B —4F ol Sl B4
2022 2021 2022 2021
FHET FET FET FET
HKS$'000 HK3'000 HKS$'000 HK$000
=S usD 81,230 126,771 - -
AR RVIB 20 48 - _
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30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group's principal subsidiaries are operating in Hong Kong and their
transactions are mostly denominated and settled in HK$, USD and RMB.
As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Directors thus consider the Group's foreign
currency exposure is not significant. To the extent that the Group's revenue
and expenditure are not naturally matched in the same currency and to
the extent that there are timing differences between receipt and payment,
the Group will be exposed to foreign currency exchange gains and losses
arising from transactions in currencies other than its functional currency.

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of RMB.
Sensitivity analysis

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk due to RMB is considered not
significant to the Group and no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk
The Group's fair value interest rate risk related primarily to loan receivables.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk as its cash equivalents
and loan receivables which are subject to floating interest rate. The
Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy. However,
the Group closely monitors interest rate movements and will enter into
new banking facilities when favourable pricing opportunities arise. The
management monitors the Group's interest exposure and will consider
hedging interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's change in interest rate is mainly attributable to its bank
balances which is considered not significant to the Group and no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

(i) Other price risk

The Group's unlisted equity securities are measured at fair value at the end
of the reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity price risk
in relation to these financial assets.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to price risks at the reporting date.
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30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Other price risk (continued)
Equity instrument at FVTOCI

If the business enterprise value of the underlying equity securities has been
5% (2021: 5%) higher/lower while all other variables were held constant,
investment revaluation reserve at 31st December, 2022 would have
increased/decreased by HK$1,480,000 (2021: HK$1,633,000) as a result
of changes in fair value of equity instrument at FVTOCI.

Financial assets at FVTPL

If equity prices were 5% (2021: 5%) higher/lower while all other variables
were held constant, loss before taxation would decrease/increase by
HK$3,911,000 (2021: HK$4,297,000) for the Group as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from potential losses result from
default on obligations by counterparties. The maximum exposure to the
Group is represented by the carrying amount of its financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables consists of rental and estate management fees receivable
from tenants. Credit checks are carried out before commencement of
tenancies and on-going credit evaluation ensures any doubtful receivables
are provided for as required. The exposure to credit risk is limited because
the trade receivables are secured by tenant deposits. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced and
thus no loss allowance was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Regarding the credit risk management policy on note receivables, the
Group assessments are based on the public subscription documents and
the public information published by its listed guarantors. For the credit risk
management policy on other loan receivables, the Group negotiates the
credit limits and terms of new grants and renewals of loans receivable
based on individual assessments of the background, financial strength
and collateral provided on the loans of each of the borrowers. The credit
limits and terms of the new grants or renewals of loans receivables are
approved by the directors of the lender subsidiaries on case-by-case basis.
As at 31st December, 2022, there are in total 2 (2021: 2) outstanding
note receivables issued by listed entities in Hong Kong and 2 debtors
(2021: 2 debtors) of outstanding other loan receivables, comprising private
companies in Hong Kong and a related party in the PRC.

The Group performs a credit quality review to provide early identification
of possible changes in the creditworthiness of counterparties regularly,
including financial information analysis, collateral revisions and interviews
with borrowers to update the credit risk of borrowers. The credit quality
review enables the Group to assess the potential loss as a result of the risk
to which it is exposed and take appropriate corrective actions.

The Group's note receivables are kept in the security broker account
and the repayment of interests and principals of note receivables are
directly debited in the security broker account when due. For the other
loan receivables, the Group billed in advance by the debit notes to the
borrowers. The Group performs ongoing monitoring on the note receivables
and loan receivables repayment and the finance department of the Group
is responsible for reporting to the Directors for any delay or default in
repayment of the note receivables and loan receivables by the issuer or the
borrower (as the case may be) upon maturity for further assessment of the
loan recoverability and formulation of plans for loan collection.

The internal audit department within the Group periodically conducts
internal control reviews and compliance checking over all aspects of credit
processes to ensure that the credit procedures are complied with and
sufficient controls are in place to mitigate credit risk.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group had a concentration of credit risk as the loan receivables are
advanced to a few independent third parties and related parties. As at
31st December, 2022, the loan receivables will be matured ranging from
November 2023 to November 2024 (202 1: November 2022 to November
2024). Management had assessed the credit rating of the borrowers for
the secured and unsecured loan receivables of HK$154,729,000 (2021:
HK$176,329,000). During the year ended 31st December, 2022, there
is a default in repayment of note receivable with a principal amount of
HK$97,640,000 (2021: HK$96,890,000) and the interest receivable of
HK$3,417,000 (2021: HK$3,391,000), all other loans interest have been
settled in accordance with agreement terms.

The Group assessed the loss allowances for other receivables with gross
carrying amounts of HK$14,056,000 (2021: HK$21,558,000) on 12m
ECL basis. The expected loss of other receivables are assessed individually,
taking into account the historical default experience and internal credit rating
of the debtors as well as forward-looking information, as appropriate. There
had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

In addition, the Group reassesses the lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
the 12m ECL for other financial assets at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. In this
regard, management of the Group considers that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has developed credit risk grading
to categorise exposures according to the degree of risk of default. The
Group uses publicly available financial information and its own historical
repayment records, or, where appropriate, engages the Valuer to rate its
major customers and debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit quality
of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) MEBERREEEHERBEGHE) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
1SR mAER B EFE () Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

REBREEERR

FARFHEBRIEATER

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

categories:
PSS R Htt&mEE
Internal credit Jilialt X BB AR Other financial
rating Description Trade debtors assets
RERR R HERERBIERRELF HIEEEEE - 128 AFEREE
RAEABHIR ARG BEERE &1
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
FER (NG SS N 5 ] 2EFEHEEER - 2@EANEREE
BB BN EIHRE A BEERE 18
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
(ed=3 R EIRER 1 E A EB RN B AR ZEESEEEE - EHFEBEEEE -
LfEERBR=EIE M EEERE BEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Ln‘etlme ECL — Llfetlme ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
=i BERBEEZEEZEERRE 2EFEHEEEE - 2 HFEBEEEE -
EERE EERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
FEEH B RBIBIE K2 AT AR BR 2 H I R £ e TEIHE R FEHE R
REE N EERALB U
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
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FREMBERME(]) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BF - E - = —HIFEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
30. @R T A 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) MEBERREEEHERBEGHE) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
1SR mAER B EFE () Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

TRHAMFPEBAEB SR EENRTAHZEE  The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial

BRMETHEERR assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:
IRE##RE FEHES
Gross G IRIE(E
12(EA 2 carrying ECL
SHEBIEEEETER  AEMEHTR FHEHEBR amount provided
—=—— Pi&E External Internal 12m or FEIT FET
2022 Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL HK$'000  HK$'000

BEMEATIRZ £ E E Financial assets at amortised costs

FEUE X

Loan receivables
RHEUEEREN—E MiEce TNE A KRR 1218 A 78,100 76
FERRZ —HHRBAT TBHEE &S
Long-term note receivable Notes c, e N/A Low risk 12m ECL

from a subsidiary of a
major shareholder

RHERT —HRZR it d, f TNEA KRR 12187 33,707 -
NG| TEEMEEEE

Short-term loan to a fellow Notes d, f N/A Low risk 12m ECL

subsidiary

REEKREEREN—E fiEaeg TEA E1E > HEHIEEER 97,640 97,640
BAE=F (EERE)

Short-term note receivable Notes a, €, g N/A Loss Lifetime ECL

from an independent third (credit-impaired)

party

RHERT — (@8 MizE b, e TiEFR iV e 12187 45,000 2,002
H= RHEEEE

Short-term loan to an Notes b, e N/A Low risk 12m ECL

independent third party
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FEMBHERMEGE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BF - E - = —HIFEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
30. @R T A 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) MEBERREEEHERBEGHE) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
EEmMEER BTG E) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
IRE#E TJRHEE
Gross ESiREW
12(BA %2 H carrying ECL
SPEBIEEEEFER.  MEMEHTR WHEHGE amount provided
—E-_fF BfisE External Internal 12m or FET F#ET
2022 Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL HK$'000 HKS'000
R 5 EWFIE 20 TNEA KR B2 2 HITE A EE R 18 13,366 =
Trade receivables N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL
R 5 EW A 20 TNEA R 2 HITE A E E R 18 1,258 =
Trade receivables N/A Watch list Lifetime ECL
H h FEUGRIE 20 e A KRR 1218 A 10,639 3
TEHEE R
Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL
HAb FEUGRIA 20 TEA gzl 2 HTE A= B B8 3,417 3,417
(EERE)
Other receivables N/A Loss Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired)

RITER 22 N3 A Ve 121E A 147,651 =
TEEEEE1E
Bank balances N/A Low risk 12m ECL

485t Total 430,778 103,138
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e MG |MRMEE(H]) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B EF - E - =+ —HIEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
30. @R T A 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) HMBREEREBHFERBERE) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
1SR mAER B EFE () Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
RE@E BHEE
Gross  EiBREfE
1218 325 carrying ECL
INBEERTR  AEMEERR TEHEEES amount  provided
T s External Internal 12m or FET T
2021 Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL HK$000 HK$'000
BMM ARz &8 E Financial assets at amortised costs
FENE R
Loan receivables
- RHEEBKERBERER—E MiEce TiE A {iWEN 1218 A 77,500 54
FERR 2 —HNEAT TEEMEE &S
Long-term note receivable Notes c, e N/A Low risk 12m ECL
from a subsidiary of a
major shareholder
- REERT-HRZE izt d, f TiE 1R B 12184 34,146 -
NG EEMEE &S
Long-term loan to a fellow Notes d, f N/A Low risk 12m ECL
subsidiary
EHEREEREN—E Miitaeg TEA &8 ZHEHIEEEE 96,890 75,272
BIE=F (EERME)
+  Short-term note receivable Notes a, e, g N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
from an independent third (credit-impaired)
party
FREE T —(EEIL MizE b, e TNE 1K= 1218 A 45,000 1,881
F=F TEEMEEEE
»  Short-term loan to an Notes b, e N/A Low risk 12m ECL

independent third party
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FEMBHERMEGE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B EF - E - =+ —HIEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
30. @R T A 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) MERREEBEERBK(E) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
1SR mAER B EFE () Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
REEE FEHEE
Gross  [E1EREE
1218 A3 2 5 carrying ECL
SNEMEERTAR  REMEERTR  EHEEEE amount provided
T —F (S External Internal 12m or FET FAET
2021 Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL HK$'000 HK$'000
R 5 FEWFRIE 20 TEA K2 B2 2 HITE A= E R 18 13,951 =
Trade receivables N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL
R 5 FEWFRIE 20 TEA HER 2 HITE A= E R 18 3,117 =
Trade receivables N/A Watch list Lifetime ECL
Hh FEURIE 20 NifE A {EWE 1218 A 18,167 2
TEEE B8
Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL
H b pE U 5RIE 20 N3 E18 T HIFEHEEEE 3,391 2,634
(EERME)
Other receivables N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
BITER 22 A iV 1218 A 119,836 =
TEEE B8
Bank balances N/A Low risk 12m ECL
48t Total 411,998 79,843
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

30.

(b)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes:

@

®)

©

(©)

®

®

The note receivable is secured by certain shares of the borrower’s subsidiaries and
an individual personal guarantor.

The loan is secured under a debenture incorporating second fixed and floating
charge over its undertaking, property and assets of the borrower and guaranteed by
an individual personal guarantor.

The note receivable is unsecured and guaranteed by a subsidiary of AGL, SHK.

The loan is unsecured and unguaranteed.

The Group engaged independent external expert to perform ECL assessment on
the balances. The ECL is assessed by reference to the probability of default and loss
given default for the relevant credit rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies, and adjusted for forward-looking factors that are available.

The ECL assessment on the balances is performed by the management. The ECL
is assessed by reference to the probability of default and loss given default for
the relevant credit rating grades published by external credit rating agencies, and
adjusted for forward-looking factors that are available.

For the year ended 31st December, 2021, the impairment was calculated based
on an average loss ratio of 77.7%. Such ratio was determined with reference to
(i) the average subordinated bond recovery rates measured by trading prices of
22.3% published by a reputable credit rating agency; and (i) the trading prices
of defaulted bonds in the industry comparable to that issued by the issuer for
which all of their trading prices range from 20% to 25%. For the year ended 3 1st
December, 2022, the balance is fully impaired.

Some debtors that are credit-impaired with an amount of approximately
HK$1,526,000 as at 31st December, 2022 (2021: HK$1,741,000) were
assessed individually and an impairment allowance of HK$234,000 (2021:

HK$1,741,000) were made on these debtors which are having financial
difficult.
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7 & B35 80 RO R (48) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B EF - E - =+ —HIEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
2R T E () 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) MEBERREEEHERBEGHE) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
1SR mAER B EFE () Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
TRACDBAREBEFMEMEWFTIENEERE  The following tables show recondiliation of loss allowances that has been
BBk - recognised for loan receivables and other receivables.
128  2HRHEHER
FHEEER (EEmEE) 5t
Lifetime ECL
12mECL  (credit-impaired) Total
BT TET BT
HK8'000 HK8'000 HK$'000
RZFZ—%—A—H As at st January, 2021 5,473 - 5,473
RENRHEREHTA Changes due to financial instruments
EEZE recognised during the year:
—ERERREER — Impairment losses recognised 74,370 = 74,370
—@I2{EATEMEEEE - Transfer from 12m ECL to
HREEERE credit-impaired (77,906) 77,906 -
—E-—F+=8 As at 31st December, 2021
:f* H 1,937 77,906 79,843
RENRHERER T Changes due to financial instruments
EEE recognised during the year:
—ERRRMEBE — Impairment losses recognised 144 22,547 22,691
PE 5 AR Exchange adjustment 1 603 604
NR-ZZE-_—F+=-A As at 31st December, 2022
=q—H 2,082 101,056 103,138
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group's operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows.

The Group's financial liabilities (including trade creditors, other creditors and
tenant deposits) are repayable on demand.

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about
how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.
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FEMBEHRRMEE(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
30. @R TEAE@®) 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(0 &MIAZARMBENEGE) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)
RIS+ A=+—HZAREERE Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2022
—=——
2022
E—ik <ot B=8® #st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FEIT FEIT FEIT FET
HK$000 HKS000 HKS$000 HKS$000
FBBRIRAAEBERE  Finandal assets at FVTPL
ZEREE - 35,147 43,079 78,226
FRHMEmMWEIZR AR Equity instrument at
BEREIRATA FVTOCI - - 29,600 29,600
RZBZ—F+=A=1+—RB2ZARBERS Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2021
T —F
2021
E—R B F=A #Et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKE000 HK8'000
BPBFIR AR EERE  Financial assets at FVTPL
ZEREE = 42,814 43,116 85,930
FREMPEBEE LR Equity instrument at
BEEREZRATA FVTOCI = = 32,660 32,660

RAFER  WEBEFE—H - FZHZKRFE=42  There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the current year.
fEl 2 F % -
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REMBGHRERME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
30. @R T A 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(0 &MIAZARMBENEGE) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

TRE®MTNAEETHEBESMEEREBEN 2R The following table gives information about how the fair values of these
BEGHNERMAEANGETEREIESE) - financial assets and liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used.)

T2AZH-RZARRE

Fair value as at
31st December,
- et “EC-E
2022 2001 SARERN REFERIESH EEREBR2Y EEORSHALAREZAE
SHEE FET F#r  Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Financial assets HK$'000 HK§000  hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
ARRELAEREREL 35,141 4814 2B CRBERECEE AR ¥ li
SRAR F LTS Level 2 Quoted price provided by financial N/A N/A
& insftutions
Unlisted fund investment
dlassified s financial
assets at FUTPL
AERERAREREL 43,019 43116 =B CREERM/RE HEEFE MR R
SHAE S RS levels  RAGEEORERZRENRE  NA N/A
i RZI&
Unlisted fund investment Quoted price provided by financial
dlassified s financial insttutions which considered net asset
assets at FVTPL values of special purpose vehicles

derived from underlying investments
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7 & B35 80 RO R (48) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BFE—E -+ = —HIFFEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
30. @R T A 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(0 &MIAZARMBENEGE) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)
TIRZH-RZARRE
Fair value as at
31st December,
i
202 2001 SRREGRN HEFEREESR EZRiERN EERRSBELRREZRE

SHRE FET F#r  Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Financial assets HK$'000 HK§000  hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
ARRERAEENG 29,600 32,660 3 BERER(ZRATLANER ROKEENENEZHALER

BALEEREL level 3 Assetbased approach. AENRBRERATRRMAE TH-

RAIA WANBEEFEENREE)A

2 LA 12884 275%E325% (2B =—%F 1 275%
Unlisted equity securites The key inputs are: E3250) °

classified as equity Term yield, taking into account of yield  The increase in the term yield would

instrument at FVTOCI () BEE: generated from comparable properties  resultin a decrease in fair value.

(i) Tem yield;

(i) BEEE

(i) Reversionary yield;

(i) TAEMRS : R
(i) Market unit rent; and

() BRZ EHHTAEE AT
(v) Discount for lack of control and
lack of marketability

and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 2.75% to 3.25% (2021:
2.75%10 3.25%).

BEURE(ZRITLBNENE
BTSSR RARELTE) A
325%Z375% (25 =—% : 3250
F3750) -

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 3.25% to 3.75% (2021:
3.25% to 3.75%).

— w
s
=
B
e
=
i
=
8>
e
Nl
=
=
st
IS

B

The increase in the reversionary yield
would result in a decrease in fair value.
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BE-F-—f1-A=f—HLFE

30. =R T A @)

(0 &MIAZARMRENEE)

TIAZ+-RZARRE

Fair value as at
31st December,
ZECCE ZE--
2022 2021
SREE TET &
Financial assets HK$000 HK$000

AREERN
Fair value
hierarchy
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

30. Financial Instruments (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

HEREREESH
Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERLERSH
Significant unobservable
inputs

RERRSHRARREZRE
Relationship of unobservable
inputs for fair value

B ENES EERMS TR
8 UERIBEALLENRE - W
ERER - MEAMIRSE - THT5
BNl e N FNETARGALETE
BYAREAOET(ZB=-%F:
FHREANELZETAREAN
AT o

Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities. The range of
average market unit rent is from around
HK$25 sq.ft/month to HK$170 sqft/
month (2021: HK$30 sq.ft/month to
HK$170 sqft /month).

e b SR 3 R (Z 3
frAHEEE) R30S0 (B —F :
26:4%) °

Discount for lack of control and lack
of marketability, taking into account
median control premium, of 30.5%
(2021: 26.4%).

mHENBENENEEHL LB E
B

The increase in the market unit rent
would resultin an increase in fair value.

RzBHNTERE AR ENE
EYLARETR.

The increase in the discount for lack of
control and lack of marketability would
resultin a decrease in fair value.
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FEMBHERMEGE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BF - E - = —HIFEE for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
30. @ T E @) 30. Financial Instruments (continued)
(0 &MIAZARMBEEREGE) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)
FBoREMEEL L EEITEEE Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial
assets
DS DBEEB
BAAREE Htt2EKS
BEZ BAREE
EREE RBEZERFEIA
ZIELETH ZIEETH
ERE BExEH
Unlisted Unlisted
fund equity
investment securities
classified classified
as financial as equity
assets at instrument at bt ]
FVTPL FVTOCI Total
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK3'000 HK$'000
RN-E-_—%—HF—H As at 1st January, 2021 39,296 33,457 72,753
s 2 e Total gain in profit or loss 3,820 - 3,820
REAM R E KR 2 BEE Total loss in other comprehensive
income - (797) (797)
WZZT=——F+=A=+—H  Asat 31st December, 2021 43,116 32,660 75,776
B 2 HEE Total loss in profit or loss 37) - (37)
REM 2 2 2 E1E Total loss in other comprehensive
income - (3,060) (3,060)
R-EBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H As at 31st December, 2022 43,079 29,600 72,679

BEA(CZE-—F : KakBBR)RIELTES  The total loss (2021: gain and loss) represent fair value gain or loss on
BRAMIFEMERMEESNRABERRERE  ynlisted fund investment and unlisted equity securities and are included in
B DRETAIEBRERRARBEEEZSHE
EFIEIN A FE R E M 2 E R SR A B ERE value of equity i ATOCT vel
S RAT AN AL BESE) - quity instrument at respectively.

“net increase in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL" and “change in fair

BED AR AT A A ESRATREM  The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets
CREERCHABENEMERELARBEARR  and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated

R financial statements approximate their fair values.
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REMBERERME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
31. ARE XSl ENEBYER 31. Reconcdiliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing
Activity

TREMANEBRERELBHBEES - 85  The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from

HeMIERLEH MEEKELNEERES  financing activity, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities

RAAKELREEAEBGERESRBRFH  arsing from financing activity are those for which cash flows were, or future

HMAKRERMBEBIEEST o cash flows will be, classified in the Group'’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activity.

EMER

Dividend

payable

FET

HK8'000

RZEZ—F—H—H At 1st January, 2021 =

BEEMRE Dividend declared 1,178,635

BERLR Financing cash flows (1,178,635)

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—HK At 31st December, 2021 and -
- F+=ZA=+—H 31st December, 2022



TRHEARAT — - —FFR

7 & B35 80 RO R (48)

BE-F-—f1-A=f—HLFE

32. NRBIMBMINER K

(a) FLFMBRAE

rf'

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Company

for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

(@) Company’s Statement of Financial Position

161

32. Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of the

== —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FET
HKS$000 HK$'000
HE ASSETS
ERBDEE Non-current assets
ME - WE KxE Property, plant and equipment 271 406
REB AR ZKRE Investments in subsidiaries 16,875 17,424
FEUL KB N F]BR 3K Amounts due from subsidiaries 553,009 632,039
Az e s Club memberships 4,261 4,261
574,416 654,130
mENEE Current assets
AR « e KA A RN RIE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 850 887
AIEREI FT1S A Income tax recoverable - 163
HEeRREEHFE Cash and cash equivalents 130,919 87,021
131,769 88,071
HEE Total assets 706,185 742,201
Ba EQUITY
[N Share capital 681,899 681,899
5 Reserves 1,840 18,719
683,739 700,618
=1 LIABILITIES
mEAR Current liabilities
FETERIE K FEET B Creditors and accruals 5,011 16,886
FERTFTS L Income tax payable 489 -
FEST B A FIBR 3K Amounts due to subsidiaries 16,946 24,697
HaE Total liabilities 22,446 41,583
HESRAR Total equity and liabilities 706,185 742,201

AATHBMRARENR-_E_=F=A+ B
EEZQRBRFETE  YHTIIEEAERES

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16th March, 2023 and
are signed on its behalf by:

ZERS (R HRH
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau
BE BZE

Director Director
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FEMBHEME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

32. Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of the

32. RRBIMBEAR AR Mi#EEE)

(b) FLAFEMEBR

Company (continued)

(b) Movement in the Company'’s reserves

REEF

Retained

profits

T

HK8'000

RZZE-_—F—H—H At Tst January, 2021 157,324

AFEEEEW L Total comprehensive income for the year 1,040,030
FERIRR B (HTaE 14) Special dividend (Note 14) (1,178,635)

R-—ZE-_—F+=-A=+—8H At 31st December, 2021 18,719
REREHEHERER Total comprehensive expenses for the year (16,879)

R-F-_—_F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2022 1,840



TRHEARAT — - —FFR

7 & B35 80 RO R (48)

BE—F_—FL-F=1

33. TENBAFIN

NI ]

—HIULFE

f||||

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022
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33. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries and Associates

MBEHRPN > KRABR-ZT-_—FE K -FT——  Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st December, 2022 and 2021,
F+-A=+-HEEBEEZTENE AR  which operate in Hong Kong except otherwise indicated, are as follows:
BT
() EEMELH (a) Principal subsidiaries
FiSREESLL

i/ ERTERS BRREHE Percentage of attributable equity directly

Place of Particular of BELFERRR s50RE
E4 Incorporation/ issued share capital/ held by the held by the TEEE
Name establishment paid up registered capital Company Group Principal activities

2022 2021 2022 2021
% Y% Y% %
TARBERAR B IRERR/ 15T - - 100 100 HERE
Asia Empire Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordinary share/ HK$1 Property investment
EEEEARAT B 1REER/ AT 100 100 100 100 RERZHELARMERRSE
Asiasec Administration Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordinary share/HK$1 Provision of management senvices
to its fellow subsidiaries
DEABARAR BA 10008 EER /100007 100 100 100 100 HEEE
AsiaSec Finance Limited Hong Kong 1,000 Ordinary shares/HK$10,000 Financing
CENFERARAR 30 300000% %3,/ - - 100 100 WEEE
AsiaSec Property Management Limited Hong Kong 300000770 Property management
300,000 Ordinary shares/HK$300,000

RERAERAR Bt 1BEER/ VAT - - 100 100 HERE
Asiawell Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordinary share/HK$1 Property investment
BRREERAR Bt WRERR/ 28T - - 100 100 HERE
Citigrand Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 Ordinary shares/HK$2 Property investment
Creative Essence Investments Limited HRERES IR EBR/ 1% 100 100 100 100 REERK

Britsh Virgin Islands 1 Ordinary share/USD1 Investment holding
AA(PE)ERAR B WRERR/ 287 100 100 100 100 REZR
Dan Form (China) Limited Hong Kong 2 Ordinary shares/HK$2 Investment holding
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FREMBERME(]) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

33 TEWRBARIMEIE AFIFEIS 33, Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries and Associates

(&) (continued)
(a) EEMEBAFIE) (a) Principal subsidiaries (continued)
FRiSRERSL

i,/ mai BRITRS BRRFENR Percentage of attributable equity directly

Place of Particular of RFLFEERE sRE5R
4] Incorporation/ issued share capital/ held by the held by the IERH
Name establishment paid up registered capital Company Group Principal activities

2022 2021 2022 2021
% Y% % %
BONEERARAA Bk 1000 52K/ 10,000/2 7 - - 100 00 YFEE
Diamond Property Management Hong Kong 1,000 Ordinary shares/HK$10,000 Property management
Company Limited
FRRARRAT 30 1BEER/ VAT - - 100 100 WERE
Gold Asia Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordinary share/HKS1 Property investment
BEARAT] 3 10,0008 %2%,/10,000E 7 - - 100 100 MEERE
Harcape Limited Hong Kong 10,000 Ordinary shares/HK§10,000 Property investment
HERARRAA 30 10100005 & 8%,/ - - 100 100 REZR
Keen Safe Investment Limited Hong Kong 1,010,000/ 7 Investment holding
1,010,000 Ordinary shares/
HK$1,010,000

Kirshman Limited B IRERE/ 2% 100 100 100 100 REZR

Hong Kong 2 Ordinary shares/HK$2 Investment holding
ErEERAR HREREE IR EBR/ 1% - - 100 100 WERE
Man Lee Offshore Limited Britsh Virgin Islands 1 Ordinary share/USD1 Property investment
RERARRAT RRARES IRERR/ 1% - - 100 100 WERE
Oriental Dragon Investment Limited Britsh Virgin Islands 1 Ordinary share/USD1 Property investment
REXRERAR Bk WERR/ 28T - - 100 100 MERE
Top Power Development Limited Hong Kong 2 Ordinary shares/HK$2 Property investment
AERABRAT 30 IRERR/ 18T - - 100 100 WERE

Wide Asia Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordinary share/HK$1 Property investment
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

33. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries and Associates
(continued)

(a) Principal subsidiaries (continued)

FisRET AL
i,/ mai BRITRS BRRFENR Percentage of attributable equity directly
Place of Particular of RFLFEERE sRE5R
4 Incorporation/ issued share capital/ held by the held by the IERH
Name establishment paid up registered capital Company Group Principal activities

2022 2021 2022 2021

% Y% % %
RBRBERRAR ZBERES 1BEER/ 1% - - 100 00 WERE
Winshine Properties Limited Britsh Virgin Islands 1 Ordinary share/USD1 Property investment
AEEHARHERLT (Note) hE 2,150000% 70 - - 100 00 WERE
PRC USD2,150,000 Property investment

Wit - ZRBRINEBEDRE
ERIBTEERRIBXEAEH 2 XERE

ENHEBAR - EFRARHEGHBARMNF

BERFRILREMBRRBITEMEBES °

Notes: The company is wholly-foreign owned enterprise.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the
year.
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FREMBERME(]) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BEF —FE - —FF - H=F—HIFEEF for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

33, TEMBARLBE QA FEE 33, Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries and Associates

(&) (continued)
(b) EEBENLNT (b) Principal associates
FEESHE
Bk, R 3Lt FrisRRiEE St
Principal place Percentage of
of operation and attributable equity directly
place of
218 incorporation/ FRERA FERB
Name establishment held by the Group Principal activity
2022 2021
% %
I RAUE R ERE AR A A t (HisE) (BfzE) BE®
Beijing Jingyuan Property PRC (Note) (Note)  In liquidation

Development Co., Ltd.

Bzt - At raR R ERR AR AT REMENESE Note: Beijing Jingyuan Property Development Co., Ltd. is in liquidation during both years.
Mo



DEMERRAT —T - _FFR

e MG |MRMEE(H])
BE-F-—F+ A=+ —AULFE
34. WEHREIA

RZEBE_=F-_A=+tB8 A2=([EFDZ
ME2ENBAREE =Rl — DB EHE
LAREIE T - s —EREER AR B
ZRAE]) 2 2MEEITRAR()EBZRABMR
HBRFRNERERUAME —EUREEOYE
WE—PREBERERRZRE ST —HER
k(A B 1R A 8= £ %84 1,000,000,0007% 7T 2

o

B o YiE 2 #3 & %8 731,000,000,003/8 7T °

RAR  AEEFYRHEEHEALEEIEZ
D —RARRZEEEEWNBARHEX
ZZBEEZEMBAREI Lz BB - ARE
80,000,000/ 7T + BB E —FIREZER AT
EHEFITRAREZRREFTHFREERE
BN EZETIHERODE - S—HRARF]
ZEEXEMBARHEBAEE  MEL2ENE
NEFI M2 BB WS - AR {E250,000,0007%
7T BB HEMBEREERARNEIEHITR
AREEERFEZERNAALEREEBUNE
B2 BT IZ O o

B 32 5 M BR AR R 2 R FIBILAR RF15
SRR RIBRAE EHE - WA A HM R
e BERER  ZUBRESHRTK - Lt
REZHBERARA-ZZE-_=F_A=++tA
ZARRE  RERMAREZBAE DHHRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 3 1st December, 2022

34. Events after the Reporting Period

On 27th February, 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Purchaser”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with third parties to acquire a property in Hong Kong through (i) the
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of an investment holding
company (“Target Company”) and (i) the assignment of loan indebted
by the Target Company to its shareholder, at the consideration of HK$3.
It was further agreed that at completion, the Purchaser shall enter into a
loan agreement to provide to the Target Company a loan in the amount
of HK$1,000,000,000. The total payment for the acquisition shall be
HK$1,000,000,003.

On the even date, the Group entered into two sale and purchase
agreements to dispose of its non-core properties. A sale and purchase
agreement was entered into between a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of TACI to dispose
of certain PRC non-core properties of the Group through the disposal of
the entire issued share capital of an investment holding company and the
assignment of shareholder's loan at the consideration of HK$80,000,000.
Another sale and purchase agreement was entered into between a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of AGL to dispose of certain Hong Kong non-core properties
of the Group through the disposal of the entire issued share capital of
two investment holding companies and the assignment of the respective
shareholder's loans at the aggregate consideration of HK$250,000,000.

The above transactions are subject to the approval of the shareholders or
independent shareholders (as the case may be) of the Company at an
extraordinary general meeting and fulfilment of other conditions precedent.
The acquisition and disposals have not been completed as at the reporting
date. Details of the abovementioned transactions were disclosed in the joint
announcement of the Company, TACI and AGL dated 27th February, 2023.
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SEMBESIEIRE SUMMARY OF THE GROUP'S
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
—BCoF B ZE2IRF E-hEFE E-N\F
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TET FET FET FET FET
HKS'000 HK8'000 HK8000 HK$'000 HK8'000
A Revenue 38,379 38,166 51,251 55,944 58,454
g (5 18) s ) Operating (loss) profit (44,286) (1,563,826) 15,242 52,704 62,259
FEAEEE A A Share of (loss) profit of
(E18) 5 A associates - (907) (69,029) 8,967 56,302
KRB A (B8R ) m T (Loss) profit before taxation (44,286) (1,564,733) (53,787) 61,671 118,561
RS0 () Income tax credit (expense) 585 1,681 (2,863) (3,657) (5,814)
REFE (BE)HF (Loss) profit for the year (43,701) (1,563,052) (56,650) 58,014 112,747
EER Attributable to:
PR Equity holders (43,701) (1,563,052)  (56,650) 58,014 112,747
A BN JEN JEN BN
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
FIR(EE) BT (Loss) earnings per share (3.52) (125.98) (4.57) 4.67 9.08
MAEE Total assets 1,741,114 1,791,326 4544502 4,658,964 4,714,880
waE Total liabilities (187,009) (185905) (198,583) (222,375) (205,730)
BEFE Net assets 1,554,105 1,605421 4345919 4,436,589 4,509,150
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